UC Santa Barbara

UC Santa Barbara Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Feeling the weight of the world: Gravity sensation and sensory integration in C. elegans

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/908325g2

Author Ackley, Caroline Rose

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

University of California Santa Barbara

Feeling the weight of the world: Gravity sensation and sensory integration in *C. elegans*

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular, Cellular, and Developmental Biology

by

Caroline Rose Ackley

Committee in charge:

Professor Joel Rothman, Chair Professor Julie Simpson Professor William Smith Professor Craig Montell

December 2022

The Dissertation of Caroline Rose Ackley is approved.

Professor Julie Simpson

Professor William Smith

Professor Craig Montell

Professor Joel Rothman, Committee Chair

May 2022

Feeling the weight of the world: Gravity sensation and sensory integration in C. elegans

Copyright \bigodot 2022

by

Caroline Rose Ackley

Dedicated to my parents

Acknowledgements

Several people in my life - both in and out of lab - have played a part in making this work possible.

Thank you first and foremost to my mentor, Joel, for his guidance, insight, and enthusiasm for developing this project and in helping me to grow as a scientist. Thank you for putting so much trust in me.

I want to express my gratitude to Pradeep Joshi, who is a fountain of knowledge and expertise, and who has always been so generous with his time and mentorship. Thank you for your advice and guidance.

Cricket Wood deserves special mention not only for all the work she does to make this research possible, but also for the critical feedback and input she has given me over the years.

Thank you to my committee, Craig, Julie, and Bill - your perspectives and ideas have been so valuable to me and have helped shape the direction of this research as well as kept it moving forward.

Thank you to Ben Lopez and the NRI microscopy facility for your training, creative thinking, and contributions.

I owe a huge debt of gratitude to the undergraduate research students - Neda, Lindsey, and Ruchira - who worked so hard on this project and have been such enthusiastic collaborators. I'm incredibly lucky and proud to have worked with each of you.

Finally, thank you to my friends and family for your love and support. I especially want to acknowledge my lab mates as well as Steph Khaiarallah, Juliana Acosta-Uribe, and my husband Reid for sharing in all the ups and downs along the way. I love and am grateful for you all.

Curriculum Vitæ Caroline Rose Ackley

Education

2022	Ph.D. in Molecular, Cellular, and Developmental Biology
	(Expected), University of California, Santa Barbara.
2014	B.Sc. in Biopsychology, University of California, Santa Barbara.

Research Experience

2016—present	Graduate student researcher
	University of California, Santa Barbara
	Principle Investigator: Joel Rothman
	Research Area: Neurodevelopment and behavior in the model or-
	ganisms $C.$ elegans and $H.$ exemplaris
	1st Rotation PI: Julie Simpson
	Altered grooming patterns across species of <i>Drosophila</i> and follow-
	ing amputation
	2ND ROTATION PI: William Smith
	miRNA expression profiling of $C.$ robusta larvae with neural tube closure defects
	3rd Rotation PI: Joel Rothman
	Bulk sequencing of sorted mutant embryos and H . exemplaris protocol development
2015-2016	Laboratory Assistant II
	Neuroscience Research Institute
	University of California, Santa Barbara
	Principle Investigator: Benjamin Reese
	Research Area: Mouse retinal development
2014 - 2015	Laboratory Assistant I
	Neuroscience Research Institute
	University of California, Santa Barbara
	Principle Investigator: Benjamin Reese
	Research Area: Mouse retinal development
2013—2014	Undergraduate Research Assistant
	Deparment of Psychological & Brain Sciences
	University of California, Santa Barbara
	Principle Investigator: Tod Kippin
	Research Area: Neural plasticity and addiction

2012—2013 Undergraduate Research Assistant Deparment of Psychological & Brain Sciences University of California, Santa Barbara Principle Investigator: James Roney Research Area: Human behavioral endocrinology

Teaching Experience

Instructor on Record

INT93LS (1 quarter): Blueprints of the Brain:
Genetic tools in neurobiology
Teaching Assistant
MCDB 110 (4 quarters): Principles of Biochemistry
MCDB 101L (1 quarter): Introduction to Molecular Genetics
MCDB 6 (1 quarter): Principles of Molecular and Cellular Biology
for Brain Sciences
MCDB 111 (2 quarters): Human Physiology
MCDB 112L (4 quarters): Laboratory in Developmental Biology
MCDB 101A (4 quarters): Molecular Genetics
MCDB 151 (2 quarters): Neurobiology I

Public Outreach

2020—present	President, Graduate Biology Mentorship Association (GBMA)
2017—present	ScienceLine Contributor
2019	Nepris Virtual Classroom Volunteer
2019	Curie-osity Project Innovator/Host
Fall 2018	Partners in Education Science Fair Project Advisor at Santa Bar-
	bara Junior High

Grants and Fellowships

Summer 2020	Summer Institutes Scholarship UW Biostatistics Summer Institute in Statistical Genetics (SISG)
Fall 2019	Graduate Division Dissertation Year Fellowship
	University of California, Santa Barbara
2017	MCDB Graduate Student Research Fellowship

Honors and Awards

2018, 2019	ScienceLine Award in Life Science
2014	The Morgan Award for Academic Excellence in Psychology

2014	Distinction in the Major
2014	Exceptional Academic Performance

Presentations

Ackley CR, Ziaei Kajbaf N, Washiashi L, Krishnamurthy R, Rothman J (2021). "Gravitaxis in *C. elegans* requires TRN tubulins and TRPA-1". Poster presented at the GSA International C. Elegans Conference Online.

Ackley CR, Ewe CK, Clueren YT, Conrad D, Rothman JH (2019). "A Novel Migratory Behavior of *Caenorhabditis elegans* Dauer Larvae in Response to High Pressure". Poster presented at the GSA International C. Elegans Conference at the University of California Los Angeles.

Ackley CR (2014). "Homer2 Regulation of Adult Neurogenesis in the Dentate Gyrus". Poster presented at the Undergraduate Research Colloquium at the University of California Santa Barbara.

Publications

Ackley CR, Ziaei Kajbaf N, Washiashi L, Krishnamurthy R, Joshi P, and Rothman JH (2022). Parallel Mechanosensory Systems are Required for Negative Gravitaxis in C. elegans. BioRxiv, 2022.03.03.482913. Kautzman AG, Keeley PW, Ackley CR, Leong S, Whitney IE, and Reese BE (2018). Xkr8 Modulates Bipolar Cell Number in the Mouse Retina. Front. Neurosci. 12:876. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00876

Kautzman AG, Keeley PW, Borhanian S, **Ackley CR** and Reese BE (2018). *Genetic Control of Rod Bipolar Cell Number in the Mouse Retina*. Front. Neurosci. 12:285. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00285

Puñal VM, Paisley CE, Brecha FS, Lee MA, Perelli RM, Ackley CR, Reese BE, and Kay JN (2019). Large-Scale Death of Retinal Astrocytes During Normal Development Mediated by Microglia. PLoS Biol.17:10. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000492.

In preparation:

Ackley CR, Washiashi L, Krishnamurthy R, and Rothman JH (TBD). Lareg-scale Gravitaxis Assay of Caenorhabditis dauer larvae. JoVE.

Abstract

Feeling the weight of the world: Gravity sensation and sensory integration in C. elegans

by

Caroline Rose Ackley

All life on Earth, from the smallest microbe to the largest blue whale, is subject to Earth's gravitational pull. This force may be the only environmental variable that has remained constant for all organisms since the origin of life. Because of this, the ability to sense gravity is present in many species and is often critical for survival. Plants use gravity as a cue for directing root growth. Animals, including humans, sense gravity to facilitate movements and to build spatial awareness. Additionally, gravity sensation is one of many modalities that are integrated by cells and nervous systems to make decisions about behavior. Little is known about gravity sensation compared with other sensory systems. Likewise, polymodality and sensory integration are relatively new and understudied areas of research within sensory biology. To investigate gravity sensation, I developed a novel, large-scale assay for observing gravitactic behavior in C. elegans. I found that the worms negatively gravitax — a behavior that has not previously been observed in this species and that gravitaxis is altered in the presence of light and electromagnetic fields. A screen of known DEG/ENaC mechanosensory components revealed that MEC-7 and MEC-12, which form specialized microtubules required for gentle touch, are required for negative gravitaxis. However, mutations affecting MEC-4 and MEC-10 — the subunits of gentletouch transducing ion channels — did not impede worms' ability to gravitax. Instead, I found that negative gravitaxis depends on the polymodal TRPA-1 channel protein. These findings suggest a previously unidentified connection between DEG/ENaC and TRPA-1 in mechanosensation. I then assayed worms that, through genetic ablation, lacked either the gentle-touch sensitive touch receptor neurons (TRNs) or a pair of proprioceptive PVD neurons, which express MEC-7/12 and TRPA-1. While TRN- worms exhibited behavior similar to N2 controls, worms lacking PVD neurons failed to show negative gravitactic preference. This work contribute to an understanding of gravity sensation and sensory integration in *C. elegans* that can provide insight into vestibular, auditory, and cognitive disorders.

Contents

Cı	ırriculum Vitae	vi
Al	ostract	ix
Li	st of Figures	xiii
Li	st of Tables	xv
1	Introduction1.1Gravity sensation and its role in proprioception1.2Disorders related to gravity sensation and sensory integration1.3Vestibular sensation in mammals1.4Tracing vestibular sensation through evolution1.5C. elegans as a model for mechanosensation1.6Mechanosensory receptors and pathways	1
2	1.7 Multimodal sensory processing and integration	11 C. elegans
	Negative Gravitaxis2.1Abstract2.2Introduction2.3Results2.4Discussion2.5Materials and Methods2.6Acknowledgements2.7Declaration of Interests2.8Author Contributions2.9Supplemental data	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
3	Large-scale gravitaxis assay of Caenorhabditis dauer larvae3.1Summary3.2Abstract	47 47 47

	3.3	Introduction	48
	3.4	Protocol	50
	3.5	Representative Results	55
	3.6	Discussion	57
	3.7	Acknowledgements	61
	3.8	Disclosures	61
	3.9	Author contributions	62
	3.10	Supplemental data	62
4	Con	clusion	63
	4.1	Summary and future directions	63
\mathbf{A}	Cha	pter 2 Supplemental	65
	A.1	Supplemental Figures	66
	A.2	Supplemental Table	69
в	Cha	pter 3 Supplemental	70
	B.1	Supplemental Table	71
\mathbf{C}	Fut	are Directions: Video Tracking	73
	C.1	Adult Gravitaxis in Pluoronic Acid	74
	C.2	Dauer Gravitaxis in Pluoronic Acid	76
	C.3	Adult Gravitaxis on Glass Slides (example 1)	77
	C.4	Adult Gravitaxis on Glass Slides (example 2)	79
	C.5	Manual Worm Tracking	81
D	Fut	re Directions: Motility assays	82
	D.1	Assessing vertical motility	83
Bi	bliog	raphy	85

List of Figures

1.1	Anatomy of the mammalian vestibular aparatus	5
1.2	TRP channel structure	10
2.1	Graphical Abstract	15
2.2	Behavioral model, wiring diagram, and gravitaxis as say design $\ . \ . \ .$	17
2.3	$C\!\!.$ $elegans$ negatively gravitax under different environmental conditions $% \mathcal{L}^{(1)}$.	22
2.4	Gentle touch mechanosensory system	25
2.5	MEC-7/12 microtubule subunits, but not several other components in the	
	gentle touch mechanosensory system, are necessary for gravitaxis	28
2.6	TRPA-1 channels are required for gravitaxis	31
2.7	PVDs and TRNs in dauer and adult worms	33
2.8	$mec\mathchar`-3$ mutants and PVD- worms have altered neuronal morphology $~.~.~$	44
2.9	Genetic ablation of PVDs but not TRNs affects gravitaxis	45
2.10	Adult worms negatively	46
3.1	Gravitaxis assay chamber setup	56
3.2	Gravitaxis in C. briggsae vs. C. elegans	58
A.1	Faraday cage integrity influences gravitactic behavior	66
A.2	<i>mec-4</i> null mutants do not gravitax \ldots	67

A.3	LSJ1 dauers negatively gravitax to a lesser extent compared with N2 $$	68
C.1	Adult gravitaxis in pluoronic acid	74
C.2	Dauer gravitaxis in pluoronic acid	76
C.3	Adult gravitaxis on glass slides (example 1)	77
C.4	Adult gravitaxis on glass slides (example 2)	79
C.5	Example of manual worm tracking using MTrackJ	81
D.1	A chemotaxis vs. gravitaxis assay to asses vertical motility	83

List of Tables

A.1	List of strains used in this study	69
B.1	List of Materials	71
B.2	List of Materials (continued)	72

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Gravity sensation and its role in proprioception

Organisms across the tree of life evolved mechanisms for detecting both internal states and external stimuli. This is true even for single-celled organisms that lack nervous systems, such as bacteria and protists (Cox et al., 2018; Häder and Hemmersbach, 2017). Earth's gravitational field is perhaps the only external factor that has remained constant for all species since the origin of life (Adamopoulos et al., 2021). Unsurprisingly then, the ability to sense gravity is common throughout biology and is critical for movement and orientation in many organisms. Plant roots utilize gravitational forces to direct roots down into the Earth (Su et al., 2017), while animals detect gravity to build a sense of body and spatial awareness.

Sensory transduction is the process of converting a signal, such as gravity, into a biological message that can be interpreted by an organism. The traditional five senses in humans can be described by the kind of signal they transduce. Vision and photosensitivity are products of light transduction. Chemoreceptors are used by our noses and tongues to convey smell and taste, respectively. Hearing and touch require the transduction of mechanical forces. However, this narrow categorization belies the variety of stimuli that can be detected. Touch, for example, encompasses a range of sensory modalities, including texture, pain, heat, and pressure sensation. Smooth muscle cells are sensitive to stretch forces, which are important cues for regulating internal states such as blood pressure. Additionally, humans and other animals have a well-known, but little appreciated, "sixth" sense, commonly referred to as proprioception.

This sense of self-awareness (proprio- meaning "own") is generated through integrating several sensory inputs. In mammals, proprioceptive neurons with processes in the joints, tendons, and muscles relay information about limb extension and muscle movement (Tuthill and Azim, 2018). Some of these signals are inherently gravity sensitive; picking up a heavy object, for example, communicates the need to increase muscle tension proportionately. Meanwhile, vestibular organs in the inner ear transduce inertial forces and gravitational pull to convey a sense of head movement. Proprioceptive and vestibular inputs are combined with visual information as well as visceral sensation to build an overall awareness of self, which is necessary for balance and coordination.

1.2 Disorders related to gravity sensation and sensory integration

Research into gravity sensation and sensory integration has implications for human health. Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is associated with both vestibular dysfunction and difficulties with sensory integration. Patients with autism experience difficulty with auditory and vestibular processing, which affects their posture, gait, gaze, and attention (Mansour et al., 2021). Children with autism are also hypersensitive to external stimuli, which can be attributed in part to impairments in multimodal sensory processing (Marco et al., 2011). Other disorders associated with abnormal sensory integration include ADHD (Ning and Wang, 2021), schizophrenia (Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010), and mood disorders (Hilber, 2022; Mackowetzky et al., 2021).

Vestibular disorders — including Meniere's disease, superior canal dehiscence, motion sickness, vestibular migraines, Pendred syndrome, and Usher syndrome, and many other conditions — are often debilitating. In young children, these disorders are also likely to delay motor development (Mackowetzky et al., 2021; Roman-Naranjo et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2015). Difficulties with balance and coordination are observed in 5.2% of children between the ages of 2–17 in the United States (Mackowetzky et al., 2021). Meanwhile, approximately 30% of adults suffer from periodic motion sickness (Roman-Naranjo et al., 2018). Vestibular symptoms are frequently comorbid with auditory disorders: 70% of children diagnosed with sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) — the most prevalent class of hearing disorders in development — experience difficulties with vestibular sensation (Santos et al., 2015). Many of these disorders have known or predicted associations with genes required for inner ear development and function (Mackowetzky et al., 2021). Uncovering the genes and mechanisms involved in vestibular sensation, which transduces gravitational force, is important for understanding both vestibular and auditory systems.

1.3 Vestibular sensation in mammals

The bony vestibular apparatus in the mammalian inner ear consists of the cochlea, which transduces sound, as well as three semi-circular canals attached to a 'vestibule'. The three canals, which sit at right angles to each other, enable transduction of angular acceleration in three dimensions, corresponding to "roll", "pitch" and "yaw". Linear acceleration is detected by two organs in the vestibule — the utricle, which conveys horizontal movements, and the saccule, which conveys vertical movements. Within these bony compartments are soft-tissue structures containing the hair cell neurons that are capable of converting forces into electrical signals (Fig. 1.1).

The semi-circular canals, utricle, and saccule employ similar strategies to detect acceleration. At the base of each semi-circular canal is a widened 'ampulla', which contains sensory hair cell neurons. The base of these neurons forms an epithelial layer with afferent connections to the brain. The ciliated apical tips of these cells are embedded in a gelatinous membrane (known as the 'cupula') that bisects the hollow ampulla. As the head rotates, endolymph fluid within the semi-circular canals pushes against the cupulae due to inertia. The resulting deformation bends the hair cell cilia, causing membrane depolarization (Glover, 2004). This structure is remarkably similar to the tectorial membrane inside the nearby cochlea, which is deflected by sound-generating pressure waves. Likewise, hair cell processes in the utricle and saccule are ensconced in a gelatinous membrane. However, displacement of these "maculae" is caused by gravitational and inertial pull on otoliths — dense, calcium carbonate deposits which lay on top of the membrane and create drag — instead of by fluid pressure.

The use of statoliths (literally 'standing rock' in Greek) in gravity sensation is not limited to vertebrates, or even the animal kingdom. In plant roots, starch filled amyoplasts, which are denser than the surrounding cytoplasm, sink to the bottom of the cell (called a "statocyte") and cause the plasma membrane to stretch. This triggers a signaling cascade that guides root growth (Kolesnikov et al., 2016). Remarkably, other organisms can detect gravity without mineral deposits or dense organelles. The single-celled protist *Euglena* was found to use its own cytoplasm as a kind of statolith; because it's cytoplasm is denser than the surrounding aqueous environment, it causes the plasma membrane to stretch as the organism rotates in solution (Häder and Hemmersbach, 2017). Diverse mechanisms for detecting orientation with respect to gravity can be found across species and throughout evolutionary history.



Figure 1.1: Anatomy of the mammalian vestibular aparatus Created with BioRender.com.

1.4 Tracing vestibular sensation through evolution

The use of statoliths in animals predates bilaterian evolution, appearing first in jellyfish 635 million years ago (Jékely et al., 2021; Ramos de Miguel et al., 2020). Meanwhile, semi-circular canals are present in all extant vertebrates, with the macular organs arising during the divergence of jawed and jawless animals (Ramos de Miguel et al., 2020; Fritzsch et al., 2014). Several lines of evidence suggest that the vestibular organs evolved before the auditory cochlear organ, likely because of the different sound-conducting properties of water and air; although fish use hair cells in lateral line organs to detect pressure changes in the water, defined cochlear structures first appear in the transition from water to land (Fritzsch et al., 2014; Mackowetzky et al., 2021; Maoiléidigh and Ricci, 2019; Lipovsek and Wingate, 2018).

While hair cells themselves are unique to vertebrates, homologous cells are present across bilaterians, and may even have a pre-bilaterian origin (Duncan and Fritzsch, 2012; Fritzsch and Beisel, 2001). Ciliated neurons in *Drosophila* and *C. elegans* share functional, developmental, and genetic characteristics in common with vertebrate hair cells. As in hair cells, worm and fly ciliated neurons require intracellular cytoskeletal anchors, extracellular matrix components, and structural support cells to transduce mechanical force (Fritzsch and Beisel, 2001). Their development depends on homologs of bHLH transcription factor Atoh1, which guides inner ear hair cell differentiation (Duncan and Fritzsch, 2012; Beisel and Fritzsch, 2004; Fritzsch and Beisel, 2001; Mackowetzky et al., 2021). Orthologs of required channel proteins (voltage gated potassium channels, Ltype like calcium channels, and potassium rectifiers) can also be found in fly and worm genomes (Fritzsch and Beisel, 2001).

As mentioned above, mechanosensation exists across the tree of life. Consequently, mechanoreceptors have been found in prokaryotes and archaea as well as eukaryotes (Delmas et al., 2011). Homologs of bacterial MscL proteins, which are stretch-activated, have been found in all three kingdoms; however, no homologs have been identified yet in animals (Katta et al., 2015; Fritzsch et al., 2020). Five classes of mechanoelectric transducer (MeT) proteins are common to bilateria: TMC, TRP, Piezo, DEG/ENac (aka ENaC/BNac or ASIC), and OSCA/TMEM63 (Katta et al., 2015; Beisel and Fritzsch, 2004). While TMC, TRP, and DEG/ENaC homologs can be found in cnidarians, Piezo and OSCA/TMEM63 proteins are even more highly conserved, with well-known homologs in plants (Katta et al., 2015; Delmas et al., 2011). Despite their genetic and structural characterization (Jabba et al., 2014; Gaudet, 2008; Montell, 2005; Katta et al., 2015), how MeTs transduce mechanical force is still under investigation.

1.5 C. elegans as a model for mechanosensation

The 1 mm long roundworm *C. elegans* is an ideal model organism for studying sensation in general, and mechanosensation in particular. Adult hermaphrodites have 302 neurons; of these, between 70-85 are sensory neurons, at least 30 (and possibly up to 46) of which are mechanoreceptive (Hobert, 2013; Metaxakis et al., 2018; Schafer, 2015; Goodman and Sengupta, 2019). *C. elegans* was the first animal for which an entire connectome was completed (White et al., 1986). Since then, worm connectomes have been mapped for multiple hermaphroditic adults as well as males (Cook et al., 2019). Additionally, A 'molecular topology' of each neuron has recently been compiled using single-cell RNA sequencing (Taylor et al., 2021).

Because of the ease of working with worms and studying their behavior, *C. elegans* have been used extensively as a model organism in the field of sensory biology. *C. elegans* respond to a number of stimuli including light, volatile and non-volatile chemicals, touch, temperature, sound, humidity, gas concentrations, Earth's magnetic field, and

proprioceptive cues (Ward et al., 2008; Ward, 1973; Bargmann et al., 1993; Bargmann, 2006; Gu et al., 1996; Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010; Iliff et al., 2021; Russell et al., 2014; Carrillo et al., 2013; Bretscher et al., 2008; Gabel et al., 2007; Vidal-Gadea et al., 2015; Schafer, 2006). Of these, gentle touch sensation has been especially well characterized. Avoidance behavior in response to gentle touch was first observed by stroking worms with an eyebrow hair attached to a toothpick (Chalfie and Sulston, 1981). Since then, devices such as piezoresistive microcantilevers have been developed to apply and measure precise mechanical forces and to record physiological responses in TRNs (Nekimken et al., 2017). These tools have advanced our understanding of the molecular and physical requirements for gentle touch sensation.

1.6 Mechanosensory receptors and pathways

Gentle touch is sensed through the DEG/ENaC pathway, which was first elucidated through forward genetic screens in *C. elegans* (Gu et al., 1996; Goodman and Schwarz, 2003; Goodman et al., 2002; Chelur et al., 2002). These studies implicated two ion channel proteins, MEC-4 and MEC-10, as well as intracellular and extracellular matrix components in a model for gentle force transduction. According to this model, MEC-4 and MEC-10 subunits form a heterotrimeric sodium channel that is linked intracellularly via MEC-2 to specialized microtubules comprised of MEC-12 and MEC-7 α and β subunits, respectively (Ernstrom and Chalfie, 2002; Shi et al., 2018). Gentle touch transduction is restricted to six touch receptor neurons (TRNs) which span the length of the worm: ALML, ALMR, and AVM detect anterior touch, while PLML and PLMR are essential for posterior touch (the sixth, PVM, is not required, but has many of the same components) (Ernstrom and Chalfie, 2002; Chalfie et al., 1985). Extracellular matrix proteins between the neuron and cuticle convey forces made by indentations along the body wall to the cell membrane (Ernstrom and Chalfie, 2002). Other proteins, such as the neuronal transcription factor MEC-3, play a developmental or regulatory role in the DEG/ENaC system. Details of the DEG/ENaC pathway will be explored in Chapter 2 and are visualized in 2.4.

In addition to DEG/ENaC proteins, members of the transient receptor potential (TRP), Piezo, and TMC families have also been described in *C. elegans* with putative and known roles in mechanosensation. The first *trp* gene was identified in *Drosophila* (Montell and Rubin, 1989); since then, multiple sub-families of TRP proteins have been described with similar characteristics. TRPs are typically non-selective, tetrameric cation channels. Each protein subunit has six membrane-spanning regions, intracellular N- and C- termini, and often contain ankyrin repeats among other common domains (Montell, 2005) 1.2. TRPs are unique because of their versatility — they are involved in several sensory modalities and behaviors in both worms and flies, including light detection, chemosensation, mechanosensation, sociality, addiction-like behaviors, and mating (Venkatachalam et al., 2014). As further evidence of their polymodality, homologs of a same TRP channel can have divergent and even opposing roles in other organisms (Saito et al., 2011).

The flexibility of TRP channels is exemplified by TRPA1, a receptor which has special relevance for this work. Between flies and worms, TRPA1 homologs are known to participate in chemosensation, photosensation, and thermosensation across a wide range of temperatures (Venkatachalam et al., 2014; Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010). Critically, *trpa* genes *painless* and *pyrexia* are also required for gravity sensation in flies (Sun et al., 2009). In worms, TRPA-1 is necessary for harsh cold sensation by the posterior PVDL and PVDR neurons (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010). Mechanosensory functions for TRPA-1 (outside of thermoception) have been observed in *C. elegans* (Kindt et al., 2007; Han et al., 2013). However, TRPA-1 and other TRP receptors have not been as extensively



Figure 1.2: TRP channel structure

A) A representative diagram, based on the structure of TRPA-1, of a TRP protein subunit. TRPA-1 in particular contains multiple ankyrin repeats within the intracellular N-terminus.
B) 3D structural representation (top: top down; below: side view) of human TRPA-1 channel complex. Both figures were created with BioRender.com. characterized as the DEG/ENaC system in worms.

1.7 Multimodal sensory processing and integration

The polymodality of TRP and other receptor classes, including opsins (Leung, 2019), raises the importance of studying sensory biology from a multisensory perspective. For generations of neuroscience research, the five classical senses (touch, sight, smell, hearing, and taste) were considered to function independently, leading to various "labeled-line" theories (Lacquaniti et al., 2014). These theories proposed that each sense has a dedicated neural pathway consisting of specialized receptors and cell types. However, increasing evidence suggests that different sensory modalities can be integrated at multiple levels, from higher order processing in the vertebrate central nervous system (Taube, 2007) to small, localized circuits (Mellem et al., 2002; Krzyzanowski et al., 2016; Bostwick et al., 2020), and occasionally, to integration within sensory neurons themselves (Tao et al., 2019; Stockand and Eaton, 2013).

Sensory integration is critically important for behavior. Animals are constantly exposed to a barrage of stimuli that can have competing effects on decision-making (Zhang et al., 2020; Metaxakis et al., 2018). Internal states, such as satiety (Chen and Chal-fie, 2014; Sengupta, 2013), and prior experiences, which lead to neuroplastic changes (Byrne Rodgers and Ryu, 2020), also provide important context that can alter the like-lihood of a behavior. Additionally, some senses, such as proprioception, are necessarily multimodal. Sensory information from neurons in the muscles, tendons, gut, vestibular system, and retina all contribute to a sense of body and spatial awareness in mammals (Lacquaniti et al., 2014). Therefore, uncovering the mechanisms behind sensory integration is essential for understanding how senses are perceived by the nervous sytem.

Expanding connectome data in flies, worms, and other model organisms enable re-

searchers to pinpoint exact synapses that participate in sensory integration within a neural network. How different sensory inputs may be integrated within a single neuron is less understood. The PVD neurons in *C. elegans*, which detect body movement, harsh touch, and harsh cold, provide some insight into this question. In these neurons, harsh touch was found to generate a signal along the axon, while proprioceptive cues led to depolarization only in dendrites (Tao et al., 2019). This compartmentalization allows for selective neurotransmitter release depending on the type of input received. Another mechanism for single cell sensory integration has been proposed in *Drosophila* md neurons, which distinguish between noxious chemical, mechanical, and thermal stimuli. The receptors targeted by each stimulus produce either slow, intermediate, or rapidly adapting currents, which may lead to differential signaling downstream (Stockand and Eaton, 2013). Polymodal neurons are not uncommon in invertebrates; however, few mechanisms for distinguishing sensory inputs within a cell have been described.

Chapter 2

Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate *C. elegans* Negative Gravitaxis

2.1 Abstract

The ability to sense Earth's gravitational pull is essential for orientation, navigation, and proprioception in most organisms. We report here that C. elegans dauer larvae and adults exhibit pronounced negative gravitaxis. This behavior is antagonized by light and electromagnetic fields, suggesting that it is integrated with other sensory inputs. We found that the MEC-7 and MEC-12 microtubule components of the mechanosensory transduction system involved in gentle touch sensation are essential for negative gravitaxis. Further, TRPA-1, a channel protein associated with cold and mechanosensation in both mammals and invertebrates, is required for this behavior. However, the MEC-4/10 DEG/ENaC channels and other components that transduce gentle touch sensation are not required, suggesting that the sensory system for detecting and responding to gravity is separable from the touch sensation system. We found that the PVD neurons, which use TRPA-1 to detect harsh cold, but neither their quaternary processes nor the touch receptor neurons (TRNs), are essential for negative gravitaxis. These findings implicate an interconnected mechanism for gravity sensation involving an ion channel that is also present in the mammalian vestibular system, suggesting possible homology in gravity sensing across animal phylogeny.

2.2 Introduction

Gravity sensation is a common trait among most Eukaryotes. Members of the protists, fungi, plants, and animals depend on gravity sensation for survival. Small changes in the position or orientation of these organisms result in a mechanical force that is transduced by graviperceptive organelles or organs. This force is often conveyed through dense organelles or mineral-rich structures whose displacement triggers a signaling pathway that ultimately results in a behavioral output (Ross et al., 1984). A common characteristic of gravity transduction pathways in animals is the use of ciliated neurons, in which deflection of hair-like "stereocilia" opens mechanically gated ion channels (Bezares-Calderón et al., 2020; Lacquaniti et al., 2014). Although this general mechanism has been well characterized, less is known about how mechanoreceptors and mechanosensory cells transduce such minute forces – estimated to be as small as 0.57-1.13 pN in *Euglena*, for example – into a robust signal (Häder and Hemmersbach, 2017).

Given the availability of a detailed connectome of the entire nervous system and powerful genetic and optogenetic tools, *C. elegans* has been a highly effective model organism for elucidating the neural circuitry and molecular mechanisms governing sensory perception, learning, memory, and behavior (Bargmann et al., 1993; Bretscher et al., 2008; Gray et al., 2004; Ramot et al., 2008; Riddle et al., 1997; Russell et al., 2014; Ward et al.,



Figure 2.1: Graphical Abstract

2008; Ward, 1973). However, because they are traditionally studied in a two-dimensional environment on the surface of Petri dishes containing agar, perpendicular to the vector of gravity, few studies have examined complex behavior exhibited by *C. elegans* in threedimensions. In the wild, *C. elegans* is typically found in moist compost, such as under shrubs or along riverbanks, which can change drastically from season to season (Kodama-Namba et al., 2013; Frézal and Félix, 2015). These animals have evolved an adaptive alternative larval phase, the dauer larvae, that prioritizes dispersal over reproduction during adverse environmental conditions. Dauer larvae exhibit characteristic nictation, in which they "stand" on their tails and wave their heads. This behavior is believed to facilitate dispersal, possibly by allowing worms to "hitch a ride" on larger animals that pass by, such as isopods (Lee et al., 2012). Therefore, gravitational force may be a critical input that *C. elegans* use in combination with other cues to navigate to the surface before traveling longer distances (Fig. 2.2A).

In previous studies, *C. elegans* dauer larvae showed no gravitactic preference, in contrast with *C. japonica*, which negatively gravitax on vertically oriented Petri plates (Okumura et al., 2013). Other studies reported that *C. elegans* adults show a tendancy to orient downwards when swimming in liquid, suggesting potential positive gravitaxis (Chen et al., 2021). However, as in *Drosophila* and the ascidian *Ciona*, the ability of nematodes to undergo gravitaxis is likely context-dependent (Bae et al., 2016; Bostwick et al., 2020). *C. elegans* shows a strong aversive response to light (Ward et al., 2008) and also responds to electromagnetic fields (Landler et al., 2018; Vidal-Gadea et al., 2018, 2015). Integration with these or other sensory modalities may influence or mask gravitactic behavior and experiments to test for gravitaxis in the absence of either stimulus have not been reported with *C. elegans*. In this study we report that in the absence of light, *C. elegans* dauers exhibit pronounced negative gravitaxis, which is strongly enhanced when they are shielded from ambient electromagnetic fields and light.



Figure 2.2: Behavioral model, wiring diagram, and gravitaxis assay design **A)** Graphic depicting environmental stimuli that inform *C. elegans* behavior in a natural setting. **B)** Diagram of key neurons mentioned in this study. TRNs are labeled in red, while FLP and PVD neurons are green (for neurons with left and right pairs, only the left neuron is displayed). Adapted from individual neuron illustrations available on WormAtlas (Altun, 2022). **C)** Gravitaxis chamber and experimental design used in this study. Figures **B)** and **C)** created with BioRender.com.

Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate C. elegans Negative Gravitaxis

While little is known about their behavioral responses to gravity, the effects of hyperand microgravity on C. elegans physiology has been documented (Gao et al., 2015, 2017; Kalichamy et al., 2016; Saldanha et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2014). In response to hypergravitational forces, signaling by the mechanosensory DEG/ENaC sodium channel proteins, MEC-4/MEC-10, leads to nuclear localization of the DAF-16 FoxO transcription factor, which also transduces insulin-like growth factor signaling and stress responses (Kim et al., 2007). The mec-4/10 genes in C. elegans, which encode channel proteins, and several other "mec" genes involved in gentle touch sensation, are expressed in the six touch receptive neurons (TRNs), which specifically mediate gentle touch sensation (Chalfie and Sulston, 1981). While the MEC-4 and -10 proteins function together in the TRNs, they also show non-overlapping expression in some cells: MEC-10 in the proprioceptive/multimodal neurons PVDL/R and FLPL/R and MEC-4 in the FLP neuron pair (Fig. 2.2B). Mechanosensation in many animals is also mediated by TRP (transient receptor potential) cation channels, which are common across metazoan phylogeny (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010; Han et al., 2013; Kindt et al., 2007; Montell, 2003). The TRPA-1 receptor is a polymodal sensor, capable of conveying either high or low temperatures as well as light and noxious stimuli (Venkatachalam et al., 2014). In worms, TRPA-1 confers sensitivity to noxious cold in PVD neurons as well as mechanosensation in OLQ and IL1 neurons (Han et al., 2013). The trpa-1 homologs pyx and pain are necessary for gravitaxis in *Drosophila* (Sun et al., 2009).

In this study, we sought to determine whether C. elegans possesses a system for detecting normal gravitational force and whether known mechanosensory molecular components and neurons participate in response to gravity. We discovered that C. elegans prefer to migrate vertically against the force of gravity — ie., to undergo negative gravitaxis. Further, we found that gravitaxis is profoundly influenced by environmental cues of light and background electromagnetic fields, revealing sensory integration in the behavior. We also report that the MEC-7/12 microtubule components, but not the associated MEC-4/10 DEG/ENaC channel proteins or several other components involved in TRN function and touch sensation, are required for gravitactic behavior. Further, we found that the TRPA-1 channel is essential for negative gravitaxis in *C. elegans*. Finally, we identified the polymodal PVD neurons, which span the length of the worm, but not their quartenary processes, as essential for this directional bias. Based on these findings, we propose a model of gravity transduction that involves the unique action of MEC-7/12, TRPA-1, and PVD neurons. Our findings suggest that even in a diminutive animal with low mass, in which the force of gravity is much weaker than many other forces it experiences, a homologous system for gravity sensing integrated with other sensory inputs operates to optimize responses to environmental cues and its orientation on the planet.

2.3 Results

C. elegans exhibits pronounced negative gravitactic behavior

We investigated whether *C. elegans* can detect and respond to the force of gravity by initially focusing on the behavior of the dispersal state, the dauer larva. When first stage (L1) larvae experience stressful conditions, including overcrowding, lack of resources, and extreme temperatures, they subsequently develop into an alternative third stage larva, the dauer larva. Through pronounced physical, metabolic, and behavioral changes, dauers become efficient vectors for dispersal that can survive for months without food (Wang et al., 2009). Dauer larvae of many nematodes show nictation behavior, in which they raise their heads at a 90° angle to the surface plane, raising the possibility that they can orient in the gravitational field, though this behavior may simply reflect orientation perpendicular to the surface.

Under normal laboratory growth conditions in which C. elegans are cultivated on

flat agar surfaces in Petri dishes, dauers of the laboratory N2 strain of C. elegans do not nictate unless contaminated by fungi or when grown on three dimensional habitable scaffolds (Guisnet et al., 2021); however, 3-D scaffolds are not convenient for studying migratory behavior. To address this issue, we adapted a setup used to study neuromuscular integrity in C. elegans (Bainbridge et al., 2016) to investigate whether C. elegans dauers exhibit directional bias in response to gravity (see methods). We injected dauers into the gravitaxis assay chambers comprised of two serological pipettes that, when stacked end-to-end, allow for ~ 25 cm of movement in either direction from the injection site (Fig. 2.2C). Chambers loaded with worms were oriented either vertically to test for movement in the gravitational field or horizontally as a control for general migratory behavior that is not influenced by gravitational force. The migration of the populations was scored 12–24 hours after loading. Horizontal and vertical chambers were constructed and generally assayed simultaneously to control for any directional preference attributable to the construction and design of the chamber itself; in the absence of other cues, worms are not expected to exhibit a migratory bias in either direction in such chambers. However, if worms perceive and respond to the force of gravity, they would be expected to exhibit a directional bias specifically in the vertically oriented chamber, showing a migratory bias toward the bottom with positive gravitaxis (average migration value of <0 to -7.0) or th top with negative gravitaxis (average migration value of >0 to 7.0; see Materials and Methods).

In contrast to prior assays conducted on Petri plates, which failed to reveal gravitactic preference with *C. elegans* (Okumura et al., 2013), we found that N2 dauers larvae showed a weak but significant directional bias in migration toward the top of the vertical chamber under normal lab conditions when compared to the horizontal controls (average vertical location = 0.89, as defined in Materials and Methods, n = 2,222 worms over 10 trials; horizontal = 0.47, n = 1,594 worms over 4 trials; p <0.0001, Kruskal-Wallis
Chapter 2

test) (Fig. 2.3A, B). This difference was not statistically significant when the results were analyzed using a "Gravitaxis Index" (GI; analogous to the Chemotaxis Index (Srinivasan et al., 2012; Larsch et al., 2015)) in which the fraction of worms moving to either side is compared (GI vertical = 0.43 ± 0.17 , SEM; GI horizontal 0.20 ± 0.16 ; p >0.05, two-tailed t test). These observations suggest that *C. elegans* dauer larvae show a mild preference for upward migration under normal laboratory conditions when the migration field is >5x larger than that of previous studies (Okumura et al., 2013).

Evidence for sensory integration: negative gravitaxis is attenuated by light and electromagnetic fields

External and internal sensory cues that provide important context that alters the likelihood of a behavioral response in animals (Chen and Chalfie, 2014; Sengupta, 2013)). As *C. elegans* exhibits strong negative phototactic behavior (Ward et al., 2008), we posited that negative gravitaxis might be adversely influenced by this response to light (Fig. 2.2A). To address this possibility, we repeated the gravitaxis assay in the dark using a light-blocking blackout cloth. In sharp contrast to the lack of discernible directional preference in the horizontal chambers, we found that N2 dauer larvae demonstrated an enhanced and highly significant preference for upward migration in the vertical chambers under these conditions (average vertical location = 1.42, n 4,276, 11 trials; horizontal = 0.008, n = 1,939, 6 trials; p <0.0001) (Fig. 2.3A, B). This striking preference for upward migration was significantly greater (p <0.01) than was seen under normal laboratory lighting conditions (Fig. 2.3B), suggesting that light attenuates the ability of the animals to sense or respond to gravity.

C. elegans has also been found to respond to electromagnetic fields (EMF) (Vidal-Gadea et al., 2015). To test whether EMF, as with light, influences the gravitactic



Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate *C. elegans* Negative Gravitaxis Chapter 2

Figure 2.3: *C. elegans* negatively gravitax under different environmental conditions **A)** Histograms depicting cumulative distribution of *C. elegans* worms over multiple trials in vertical (blue) and horizontal (orange) assays. Presence or absence of normal overhead light and background EMF (no Faraday cage) are denoted with +/-. **B)** Boxplots depicting data shown in A. Dauers tested in a dark Faraday cage are used in future comparisons. * p <0.05, ** p <0.01, *** p <0.001, **** p <0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.

behavior of dauers, we analyzed their movement in chambers that were shielded from the ambient EMF present in the lab using a Faraday cage (see Materials and Methods). We found that shielding the chambers from both EMF and light resulted in dramatically increased negative gravitactic behavior: in such chambers, dauers showed strong negative gravitaxis, with highly significant directional bias compared to horizontal controls (average vertical position = 2.76, n = 28,011, 76 trials; horizontal = 0.48, n = 11,626, 33 trials; p < 0.0001) (Fig. 2.3A, B). Further, the animals showed significantly stronger negative gravitaxis under these conditions than either the -light + EMF or +light + EMFconditions (p < 0.0001 in both cases). Over the course of several months, we noticed that gravitaxis in our Faraday cage gradually decreased as a result of diminished EMF blocking, as confirmed by restoration of cell phone reception (see Materials and Methods) Strong negative gravitactic behavior was restored after reinforcing the cage (Fig. A.1). Thus, the ability of C. elegans to undergo negative gravitaxis is inhibited by both light and EMF, suggesting that gravitaxis behavior in the animal is integrated with other sensory inputs. In all subsequent experiments, we used a Faraday cage in the dark to block these other sensory inputs.

Our findings that C. elegans dauer larvae exhibit pronounced negative gravitaxis contrasts with prior studies which found no gravitactic behavior in dauers, or that reported positive reorientation toward the gravitational vector in adults (Okumura et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2021). These differences are likely attributable to several parameters of assay design. The previous experiments were performed on Petri dishes, which limit the distance worms can travel. Owing to the long distances traversed in our chambers, we were able to find robust and highly significant differences between horizontal and vertically oriented chambers. In addition, the environment of a worm crawling in the thin space between the agar substrate and the wall of the chamber may be more similar to the act of crawling through a column of soil than the experience of moving along the agar surface at the interface with the atmosphere on a plate. Finally, earlier experiments on gravitaxis in *C. elegans* made no mention of lighting conditions used or shielding against EMF, leading us to propose that signal integration with gravity and these other sensory inputs may have attenuated the behavior in those studies, as we have demonstrated here.

Elimination of neural-expressed MEC-7/12 microtubule subunits, but not other components involved in gentle touch sensation, abolishes negative gravitaxis

Gravitational force is exceedingly weak compared with other mechanical stimuli, and particularly so in organisms with low mass. Diminutive organisms must therefore evolve extremely sensitive mechanisms for perceiving this force. In some small invertebrates, stretch receptors in the cuticle generate an ion influx upon deformation in a manner analogous to stretch and pressure sensors in mammals (Bender and Frye, 2009). The comprehensive set of molecular components that mediate gentle touch sensation in C. elegans have been identified through genetic analysis (Chalfie and Sulston, 1981). Because the gentle touch mechanosensory channel proteins MEC-4 and MEC-10 are also essential for transducing hypergravitational force in worms, we sought to determine whether these known mechanosensory components function in sensing Earth's gravity.

We found that mutations that eliminate most components in the gentle touch response (Fig. 2.4) did not prevent gravitaxis in dauer larvae, demonstrating that gravity sensing is separable from touch reception. Gentle touch in *C. elegans* is perceived by the mechanosensory DEG/ENaC channels MEC-4 and MEC-10 (Chalfie and Sulston, 1981), which form a pressure-sensitive channel in the set of Touch Receptor Neurons (TRNs). We found that neither mec-4(-) nor mec-10(-) mutants were significantly defective for gravitaxis compared with wildtype controls (Fig. 2.5A,B): in both mutants, animals in



Figure 2.4: Gentle touch mechanosensory system

MEC-4 and MEC-10 subunits form a sodium channel that is required for gentle touch sensation in TRNs. MEC-1, -5, and -9 components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) form a structure between TRNs and the cuticle (Emtage et al., 2004). MEC-7/12 microtubules form 15 protofilament structures in the TRNs only; however, these β and α subunits (respectively) are found in other neuronal 11 protofilament structures (Bounoutas et al., 2009). MEC-2 proteins associate with both the DEG/ENaC channels and TRN microtubules and enhance channel activity, likely through interactions with cholesterol in the plasma membrane (Brown et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2015; Goodman and Schwarz, 2003). (Adapted from images by (Tavernarakis and and Driscoll, 1997; Tavernarakis and Driscoll, 2001) and others). Image was created with BioRender.com. vertically oriented chambers exhibited a strong directional bias compared to the horizontal controls (average vertical location = 2.96, n = 1,340, 7 trials; horizontal = 0.83, n = 407, 4 trials; <0.0001 for the mec-4(e1339) missense mutation and average vertical location = 2.77, n = 2,110, 12 trials; horizontal = 0.81, n = 2,292, 9 trials; p <0.0001 for the mec-10(tm1552) null mutation (Fig. 2.5A, B), implying that the MEC-4/MEC-10 mechanosensory channels are not required for response to gravitational fields. Analysis of mec-4(-) mutants is complicated by the observation that the mec-4(tu253) null mutant animals are sluggish (Zhang and Chalfie, 2002); this impaired movement could confound conclusions about the requirement for MEC-4 in gravitaxis. Indeed, when tested in our assay, mec-4(tu253) showed severely defective movement and did not show clear gravitaxis (Fig. A.2). Nonetheless, our findings with the mec-4(e1339) missense mutant, which is touch defective, and the mec-10(tm1552) null mutant suggest that the MEC-4/10 channel are not required for gravitaxis.

We found that several other genes in the canonical gentle touch sensing system are similarly largely dispensable for gravitaxis. mec-2 encodes a stomatin-like protein required for MEC-4/MEC-10 channel activity (Brown et al., 2008). MEC-2 binds cholesterol (Huber et al., 2006) and likely facilitates gentle touch transduction by altering the composition of the plasma membrane surrounding MEC-4/MEC-10 ion channels (Brown et al., 2008). We found that mec-2(e75) dauers were not significantly impaired in their ability to gravitax (average vertical location = 2.29, n = 2,621, 10 trials; horizontal = -1.13, n = 1,526, 10 trials; p <0.0001) (Fig. 2.5A, B). MEC-18 is required for gentle touch sensation, although its function has not been well characterized (Topalidou et al., 2012; Neumann and Hilliard, 2014). mec-18(u228) mutants showed a strong gravitactic preference compared to horizontal controls (average vertical location = 1.11, n = 1,645, 4 trials; horizontal = -0.19, n =4,175, 5 trials; p <0.0001). While both mutants showed a significantly reduced vertical preference compared to N2, these experiments point to at most a minor role for these components in gravitaxis.

The specialized MEC-12 alpha-tubulin and MEC-7 beta-tubulin proteins form unique 15-protofilament microtubules that are found only in the six TRNs that are essential for mechanosensation. These microtubule bundles are thicker than the typical 11 protofilament microtubules found in most cells, including in other neurons (Gu et al., 1996). These unique 15-protofilament structures may provide intracellular resistance required for mechanotransduction; however, the exact function in the process is unknown (Bounoutas et al., 2009; Krieg et al., 2015). In contrast to our findings with other gentle touch sensation components, we found the removal of either MEC-7 or MEC-12 abolished negative gravitaxis, resulting in a random distribution in the chambers similar to that seen in the horizontal controls (average vertical location = 0.60, n = 1,034, 4 trials; horizontal = 0.26, n = 407, 4 trials; $\gg 0.05$ for mec-7(ok2152) and average vertical location = 0.83, n = 5,063, 10 trials; horizontal = 0.92, n = 5,058, 10 trials; p $\gg 0.05$ for mec-12(e1605)) (Fig. 2.5A,B).

MEC-7 and MEC-12 are required for normal axonal outgrowth (Chalfie and Thomson, 1982; Bounoutas et al., 2009, 2011) and it is therefore conceivable that the mec-7(-) and mec-12(-) mutations might block gravitaxis by altering neuronal development or structure. We were able to separate the role of MEC-7/12 in neuronal structure from its other functions by taking advantage of the mec-12(1605) allele, an H129Y missense mutation that eliminates gentle touch sensation without detectably altering TRN development or structure (Lockhead et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2014). We found that gravitaxis is abolished in mec-12(e1605) mutants (Fig. 2.5A,B; p \gg 0.05), suggesting that MEC-12 requirement in gravitaxis is separable from its role in neuronal structure.

MEC-12 is the only *C. elegans* alpha-tubulin subunit known to be acetylated at K40 (Lockhead et al., 2016; Akella et al., 2010). Mutations that modify K40 or that eliminate the MEC-17 transacetylase required for microtubule acetylation also prevent





Gravitaxis assays of N2 dauers and dauers carrying mutations in genes involved mechanosensory transduction. (A) Histograms comparing horizontal (orange) and vertical (blue) distributions of each strain over multiple trials. B) Boxplots depicting data shown in A. Dauers tested in a dark Faraday cage are used in future comparisons. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.

mechanosensation (Shida et al., 2010; Topalidou et al., 2012; Neumann and Hilliard, 2014). We found that mec-17(u265) mutants, which lack functional MEC-17, undergo normal gravitaxis behavior (average vertical location = 3.10, n = 856, 5 trials; horizontal = -0.90, n = 245, 2 trials; p <0.001) (Fig. 2.5A,B) that did not significantly differ (p \gg 0.05) from that of N2 animals, indicating that this modification, which is essential for stabilizing the MEC-7/12 microtubules in TRNs, is not required for sensation or response to gravity.

Taken together, these results support the notion that MEC-7/12 microtubules perform a role in gravity perception that is distinct from their structural roles or action in conferring gentle touch sensitivity.

The TRPA-1 channel is essential for gravity sensation

Our finding that MEC-4 and MEC-10 are not required for gravitaxis suggests that other types of mechanosensory channels may be involved in gravity perception. Prime candidates for such channels are members of the superfamily of TRP (transient receptor potential) proteins, which are implicated in many sensory modalities including sensitivity to touch, hot and cold temperatures, noxious chemicals, and light (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010; Venkatachalam et al., 2014). Orthologs of these channels have been found across metazoan phylogeny, including in all triploblast and diploblast animals, sponges, and even unicellular choanoflagellates, which are believed to be the closes surviving relatives of all metazoans (Carr et al., 2008). Mouse TRPA-1 is expressed in the vestibular system, the primary organ where gravity sensation occurs in mammals (Kamakura et al., 2013). In *C. elegans, trpa-1* is expressed in the proprioceptive/nociceptive PVDL/R neuron pair, among others. Although TRPA-1 is known to play a role in noxious cold sensation in these neurons, *Drosophila* homologs of TRPA channels, *pain* and *pyx*, are required for gravity sensation (Sun et al., 2009). Additionally, *trpa-1* knockout mice show impaired mechanosensation and perception of noxious cold (Kindt et al., 2007). *C. elegans* TRPA-1 is likely to perform mechanosensory functions in addition to its known role in cold sensation (Sun et al., 2009).

We found that removal of TRPA-1 in the trpa-1(ok999) null mutant abolishes gravitaxis in dauer larvae (average vertical location = 0.93, n = 1,392, 10 trials; horizontal = 0.84, n = 1,300, 7 trials; p \gg 0.05) (Fig. 2.6A, B). As trpa-1(ok999) mutant adult worms exhibit several movement defects, including decreased forward locomotion and several variations in the sinusoidal movement typical of wildtype worms (Yemini et al., 2013), it was conceivable that the elimination of net upward biased movement of the animals might reflect diminished locomotory capacity rather than defects in gravity sensing *per se.* However, we found that trpa-1(ok999) dauer larvae distributed broadly across the chambers comparable to that observed with N2 animals in both the horizontal and vertical conditions, demonstrating that these mutants are capable of traveling long distances regardless of orientation. These findings suggest that TRPA-1 channels are essential for, and may mediate, *C. elegans* gravitaxis.

PVD neurons, but not TRNs, are required for gravitaxis

Our observations that apart from the TRN-expressed MEC-7/12 microtubules many components that are essential for TRN function in gentle touch sensation are not required for gravitaxis led us to ask whether TRNs themselves are required in the response. The LIM homeodomain transcription factor MEC-3 mediates differentiation of several sensory neurons including the TRNs by activating a battery of genes required for touch sensation. TRNs in mec-3(-) mutants have smaller-than-normal cell bodies and shorter processes, leading to touch insensitivity (Chalfie and Sulston, 1981). We found that elimination



Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate *C. elegans* Negative Gravitaxis Chapter 2

Figure 2.6: TRPA-1 channels are required for gravitaxis

(A-B) trpa-1 mutants in vertical (blue) and horizontal (assays) compared with controls. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskall-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.

of MEC-3 function in a *mec-3(e1338)* mutant did not significantly alter the ability of the animals to undergo gravitaxis (average vertical location = 3.8, n = 1,225, 5 trials; horizontal = 2.47, n = 1,657, 7 trials; p <0.0001). Thus, normal TRN differentiation is not essential for negative gravitaxis.

The requirement in gravitaxis for trpa-1, mec-7, and mec-12, but not mec-4/10, other genes required for gentle touch response, or normal TRN differentiation, suggested that neurons other than the TRNs are required for this behavior. Although MEC-7 and MEC-12 are present in many neurons, their function beyond the TRNs is poorly understood. Further, there is no reported connection between MEC-7/12 microtubules and TRPA-1 function. Of the six TRNs, only one expresses trpa-1 (Taylor et al., 2021); however, available expression data (Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2010; Taylor et al., 2021) indicates that PVDs, which detect muscle movement in addition to a host of other stimuli, express all three genes. We hypothesized, therefore, that PVD neurons might be integration centers for two proprioceptive inputs: muscle movement and position relative to the vector of Earth's gravitational field.

To test this hypothesis, we first investigated the requirement for TRNs in gravity sensing by genetically ablating them. The *mec-4(u253d)* gain-of-function mutation results in constitutive MEC-4/10 activation, which triggers degeneration and necrotic death specifically of the TRNs. We confirmed loss of TRNs using a TRN-expressed *mec-3p*::RFP reporter (Fig. 2.7A,C,E). Ablation of the TRNs did not alter the ability of the animals to perceive and respond to gravity: the gravitactic bheavior of worms lacking TRNs was not significantly different from that of N2 animals in our gravitaxis assay (p $\gg 0.05$)(average vertical location = 2.68, n = 1,955, 12 trials; horizontal = -0.57, n = 711, 5 trials; p <0.0001) (Fig. 2.9A, B); hence, efficient gravitaxis of dauer larvae does not require the TRNs.

We then ablated the PVD neurons by expressing a constitutively active version of



Figure 2.7: PVDs and TRNs in dauer and adult worms

(A,C and E) Confocal fluorescent micrographs of mec-3p::RFP and ser-2prom-3::GFP expression labelling the TRN and AWC neurons and PVD and OLL neurons, respectively. Brightfield images shown in B, D, and F. (A-B) Wildtype dauer worms; developing 3° processes of PVD neurons are indicated with a white arrow in inset. (C-D) Wildtype adult hermaphrodites; 4° processes are indicated with white arrowhead in inset. (E-F) mec-4(e1611) gain of function dauers, in which TRNs are ablated. Scale bar $100\mu m$, $10\mu m$ in insets.

the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) channel subunit, deg-3(u662)/DEG-3, under the ser2prom3 promoter (Albeg et al., 2011). Elimination of PVD neurons using this construct has been confirmed with a PVD-specific fluorescent reporter (Albeg et al., 2011). We found that animals lacking PVD neurons completely failed to undergo negative gravitaxis, showing a relatively even distribution between upward and downward movement, with a slight downward bias (average vertical location = -0.14, n = 2,323, 9 trials; horizontal = 0.95, n = 2532, 6 trials; p <0.0001) (Fig. 2.9A, B). Based on this finding it is conceivable that removal of PVDs results in a reversal of gravitactic preference, albeit with a weak effect. This behavior is likely attributable to *bona fide* inability of the PVD-ablated animals to undergo negative gravitaxis, rather than defects in motility, as they are capable of effectively reaching both ends of he chamber in either the horizontal or vertical orientations. These findings strongly support an essential requirement for PVD neurons in sensing and responding to the gravitational fields.

Our observation that mec-3(e1338) mutants exhibit negative gravitaxis, while dauers lacking PVD neurons do not, led us to probe how PVDs may be responding to gravity. MEC-3 expression is required for TRN development (Smith et al., 2013; Wang and Way, 1996) and low levels of this transcription factor are required for specification of PVD neurons (Smith et al., 2013, 2010). In adulthood, PVD neurons are highly branched, with 2°, 3°, and 4° processes that have been described as "menorahs" (Fig. 2.7). In the absence of MEC-3, PVD neurons develop 1° axons, but lack 2°-4° branches (Smith et al., 2010; Tsalik et al., 2003). The observation that PVD neurons, but not MEC-3, are required in gravitaxis may be explained by the role of these processes in sensing polymodal information. Harsh touch and proprioceptive signaling are compartmentalized to the axon and 3° branches, respectively, within PVDs (Tao et al., 2019). Thus, the finding that mec-3 mutants are not impaired in their gravitational response implies that 2°-4° processes are not essential for this behavior. Moreover, while 1°-3° processes are observed in dauer larvae (Fig. 2.7A, inset) (Richardson et al., 2019), 4° processes do not appear until L4 or adulthood (Fig. 2.7C, inset) (Sundararajan et al., 2019), further substantiating that 4° branches are not involved in gravity sensation.

The difference in PVD architecture between dauers and adults led us to ask whether adults behave differently in response to gravity. Changes in gravitational response – or even in the ability to sense gravity – throughout development could also be important for the worms' ecology, particularly given the importance of the dauer stage, but not adults, in dispersal of the animal. We found that, like dauer larvae, N2 adults also undergo significant negative gravitaxis in the absence of light and EMF (average vertical location = 2.00, n = 520, 5 trials; horizontal = -0.50; n = 777, 6 trials; p <0.0001) (Fig. 2.10). While overall gravitactic preference was reduced somewhat in adults compared with dauers in our vertical assay (p <0.0001), we note that the distances travelled by adults and dauers may not be directly comparable as adults are significantly larger, and therefore travel shorter distances relative to their body length in this assay. Evidence of gravitactic behavior by adults suggests that gravity sensation may have a strong influence on behavior throughout *C. elegans* development.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, we report four major advances. 1) We discovered that *C. elegans* dauer larvae and adults show pronounced negative gravitaxis. This drive toward movement away from the center of the earth may direct the animals twoard food sources, typically decomposing vegetative matter at the surface (Frézal and Félix, 2015). 2) We found that the ability of the animals to sense and respond to the force of gravity is attenuated by light and electromagnetic fields, suggesting that they integrate sensation of these other influences to make decisions about whether to undergo negative gravitaxis. 3) The ability of the animals to sense and/or respond to gravity does not require DEG/ENaC channels or other factors involved in touch sensation but does require the MEC-7/12 microtubule components and TRPA-1 channels. Thus gravity sensing involves a previously unknown system involving specialized microtubules, which also participate in touch sensation and may function with TRP sensory channels. 4) Both immature PVD neurons in dauer larvae, and those in adults, but not TRNs, are essential for response to gravity. Morever, adult PVDs lacking quartenary process ("menorahs") appear fully functional for this response.

Underground habitats are generally ill-suited for *C. elegans* and such environments may cause dauer larvae to find their way to the surface where decaying vegetation might be present. However, the animals also avoid light (Ward et al., 2008). Further, some studies suggest that they may navigate using Earth's magnetic field (Vidal-Gadea et al., 2015; Landler et al., 2018; Vidal-Gadea et al., 2018). Our finding that ambient light and EMF in the laboratory setting strongly attenuate gravitactic behavior – which may explain why negative gravitaxis has not been reported previously – suggests that the animals integrate sensory inputs from a variety of environmental signals, including the force of gravity, to optimize behavioral decisions (Metaxakis et al., 2018). The extent to which light, EM fields, and potentially other inputs override the response to gravity, as well as the circuits required to calculate their respective influence on behavior, are important outstanding questions.

Although it was not detected in earlier studies, our altered assay revealed that both dauers and adults of *C. elegans* exhibit pronounced negative gravitaxis when properly shielded from other environmental stimuli. The reduced ability of N2 dauers to exhibit negative gravitaxis compared to that observed with *C. japonica* dauers, might be an outcome of myriad adaptations to laboratory cultivation, as has been observed for several other traits, including social feeding, egg laying behavior, oxygen tolerance, and nictation (Gray et al., 2004; Frézal and Félix, 2015; Lee et al., 2012; Félix and Braendle, 2010; de Bono and Bargmann, 1998; Large et al., 2017). We found that negative gravitactic behavior, albeit weakened, occurs in the LSJ1 sister strain, which has been raised in liquid media over many decades, and is also observed in *C. briggsae* (Ackley et al., 2022b). It remains an open question as to whether these strains show negative gravitaxis when shielded from light and EMF when swimming in liquid rather than crawling on solid media.

demonstrate a strong negative gravitactic preference especially in the dispersal dauer phase, and less prominently in adults. In response to stressors such as overcrowding, lack of food, and poor environmental conditions, *C. elegans* enter an altered developmental dauer pathway that facilitates survival and enables them to seek a better habitat (Frézal and Félix, 2015; Ow and Hall, 2015). Therefore, if a habitat underground becomes poor, it is crucial that dauers find their way to the surface and nictate in the absence of other guiding cues. Recent studies have also found that worms are sensitive to the earth's magnetic fields (Landler et al., 2018; Vidal-Gadea et al., 2018, 2015) in addition to photosensitivity (Ward et al., 2008). We found that the normal lighting conditions and EM field in our laboratory setting was enough to alter gravitactic behavior. This supports our understanding of signal integration in the nervous system, in which several sensory inputs are constantly compared when making decisions (Metaxakis et al., 2018).

The extent to which light, EM fields, and other inputs override gravity sensation, as well as the circuits required to calculate their respective influence on behavior, are important questions for future studies. Previous assays for gravitaxis by *C. elegans* dauers conducted on plates did not detect any directional preference while *C. japonica* dauers under similar assay conditions were strongly negatively gravitactic (Okumura et al., 2013). Our altered assay has shown that *C. elegans* dauers as well as adults also exhibit negative gravitaxis. The reduced ability of N2 dauers to exhibit negative gravitaxis might be an outcome of myriad adaptations to laboratory cultivation as has been observed for several other traits including social feeding, egg laying behavior, oxygen tolerance, as well as nictation (de Bono and Bargmann, 1998; Félix and Braendle, 2010; Frézal and Félix, 2015; Gray et al., 2004; Large et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2012). Interestingly, our results suggest that negative gravitaxis is maintained (albeit weakened) in the LSJ1 sister strain, which has been raised in liquid media over several generations (Fig. A.3). It would be interesting to see how these two strains compare gravitactically when swimming rather than crawling on solid media.

Our finding that *trpa-1* and MEC-7/12 microtubule functions are both required for gravitaxis reveals an unexplored mechanism for transducing gravitational force. Unlike the DEG/ENaC channels, TRPA-1 receptors do not require internal or external machinery to function (Kindt et al., 2007). Additionally, *trpa-1* is expressed in only one of six TRNs, which are the only neurons containing the 15 protofilament structures formed by MEC-7/MEC-12 tubulins. MEC-7/MEC-12 microtubules may perform more than a structural role in mechanosensation; whether this function is independent of their assembly into 15 protofilament structures has not been determined.

We obtained evidence pointing to a pair of neurons, PVDL/R, as primary gravitysensors. Unlike animals lacking TRN function or cells, which show normal behavior in our gravitaxis assay, those lacking PVDs show no detectable response to gravity. These results, in conjunction with our *trpa-1* findings, suggest a sketch of how gravity may be transduced at a molecular and cellular level. PVD neurons may use TRPA-1 to provide information about the direction of gravity. However, in the absence of additional information, it is not clear whether TRPA-1 is the primary gravity receptor in worms. As with TRP channels generally, TRPA-1 is known to have primary and secondary roles in a variety of sensory pathways (Montell, 2003). It is not clear from our studies, or other reports, how MEC-7 and MEC-12 microtubule subunits function in mechanosensation. While these tubulins may perform a vital function within PVD neurons that is required to transmit a signal, it is also possible that hey play a role in other neurons involved in the response. It is noteworthy that ciliated neurons are frequently used in gravity sensation including in humans (Bezares-Calderón et al., 2020; Lacquaniti et al., 2014). There are 60 ciliated neurons in *C. elegans* (Albeg et al., 2011), 38 of which express MEC-12 and TRPA-1 (Hammarlund et al., 2018). Of these, 3 (OLQ, AQR, and PHA) also express an ortholog of the likely gravity-sensitive mechanoreceptor in mammals, TMC-1(Corey et al., 2004; Nist-Lund et al., 2019; Chatzigeorgiou et al., 2013). Thus, it is conceivable that PVDs may be secondary neurons that act within a neural circuit to make decisions about movements in response to the direction of the gravitational field.

Understanding how C. elegans perceives gravity has implications for both invertebrate and mammalian biology. C. elegans has been used for decades as a model for understanding the effects of microgravity on animal physiology in space (Gao et al., 2015, 2017; Honda et al., 2012, 2014; Qiao et al., 2013; Selch et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2017), and yet scant information is available regarding their ability to sense gravity. Moreover, gravity perception is linked evolutionarily and developmentally with hearing (Fritzsch et al., 2014; Lipovsek and Wingate, 2018): the vestibular and auditory systems in mammals share similar sensory structures, transduction machinery, and gene expression (Scheffer et al., 2015). A role for TRPA1 has already been identified in sensory transduction within inner ear hair cells in mice (Corey et al., 2004). The similarities between these systems makes the study of gravity sensation important not only for understanding mammalian vestibular sensation, but also auditory sensation. A recent study showed that C. elegans can sense sound through mechanical perturbations of the epidermis and that this sense involves the multimodal PVD neurons and the FLP mechanosensory neurons (Iliff et al., 2021). Thus, uncovering the role of TRPA-1 as a mechanoreceptor raises the possibility that C. elegans could be used as a model for studying both vestibular sensation and audition.

2.5 Materials and Methods

Worm rearing

C. elegans worms were grown and maintained on OP50 E.coli at room temperature (23°C) using standard methods (Stiernagle, 2006). Dauer formation was induced by overcrowding, which occurred 8-12 days after chunking onto seeded NGM plates. Adults used for gravitaxis assays and imaging were taken from synchronized populations 2 days after hatching. Crosses were performed as described previously (Fay, 2006), using fluorescence microscopy and/or PCR to confirm the outcome of each cross. All strains used in this study are included in Table A.1.

Dauer isolation

Dauer larvae were isolated from 1-5 starved NGM plates using 1% SDS and a 30% sucrose gradient as described previously (Karp, 2018; Ow and Hall, 2015). Briefly, worms were rinsed and collected in M9, then pelleted and resuspended in 7mL 1% SDS in a 15 mL falcon tube. Worms were left rotating for 30 minutes in SDS to kill all non-dauer lifestages. After 3-5 rinses with M9, worms were resuspended in 10 mL 30% sucrose solution and centrifuged for 5 minutes. Surviving dauers were collected at the interface of the water-sucrose gradient with a large bore glass Pasteur pipette and rinsed 3-5X in M9. Worm were used immediately or after rotating in solution overnight.

Synchronization

Mixed stage worms were rinsed from confluent plates with M9 and collected in 1.5 mL tubes. Worms were then rinsed and pelleted. A 1 mL bleach solution containing 150 μ L bleach and 50 μ L 5N KOH was added and worms were lysed in this solution for 3 minutes, or until most corpses were dissolved. The embryo pellet was then rinsed 3-5X

in M9 and plated onto OP50 NGM plates until adulthood (2 days at 23°C).

Assay preparation

Gravitaxis assay chambers were created using 5 mL serological pipettes and 4% NGM agar. To assemble each chamber, a heated blade was used to cut the tapered end of one pipette and the cotton plug was removed from the end of a second pipette. The two pipettes were then joined end-to-end by melting the two ends slightly over a Bunsen burner and fusing them with moderate pressure, ensuring that no gaps remained. The NGM media was then autoclaved and then taken up by each double pipette using a standard serological pipettor while the agar was still molten. Best results were achieved by orienting each pipette parallel with the benchtop as much as possible during the procedure and as the agar solidified. Pipettes were used within 24 hours of construction or stored at 4°C to be used within 48 hrs.

Once solidified, a heated 3mm Allen key was used to punch a hole through one wall of the pipette about 5mm below the fusion point (for reference, the cotton-plug end is the "top"). Each end of the pipette was removed using a heated blade and sealed with parafilm.

Gravitaxis assay

Worms were pelleted in M9 and were either extracted directly from the pellet or pipetted onto a square of parafilm. After cutting the tip to increase the bore, a pipette was used to aspirate 0.5-2 μ L of the concentrated worm pellet, letting in a small volume of air at the end to facilitate injection. Worms were injected into the agar at the opening created by the Allen key. This opening was then sealed with parafilm, and the chamber was immediately oriented vertically or horizontally. Worms were allowed to gravitax overnight and were scored the following day (typically 12-24 hrs after injection).

Pipettes were examined under a dissecting microscope and a marker was used to mark the location of each worm. Pipettes were scored immediately after removal from the assay location. Worms were only scored if they appeared alive, healthy, and were not swimming (chambers were only scored if a majority of worms were alive and crawling). Worms were not scored within 2.5 cm to either side of the injection point.

To tally the location of each worm, pipettes were divided into 7 sections on each side of the 5 cm injection site. Each section was 3.5 cm long (the same length as a 1 mL volume indicated on the pipettes). The number of marker points in each section was then recorded.

Imaging

Fluorescent micrographs were taken using a Leica SP8 Resonant Scanning Confocal microscope at 10-40x. Brightness and contrast were adjusted and overlays added using ImageJ.

Quantification and Statistical Analysis

Data were collected in Excel and analyzed using RStudio. Statistical tests, p values, sample sizes, and replicates are detailed in the results and figure legends.

2.6 Acknowledgements

Funding for this work was provided in part by NIH grants #R01GM143771 and R01HD081266 to JHR. CA was supported in part by fellowships from the Department of Molecular, Cellular, and Developmental Biology as well as the President's Dissertation Year Fellowship through UCSB Graduate Division. NZK received support through the Gorman Scholarship Program at UCSB. LW was funded as a Dr. Rajendra Singh Fellow through the UCSB College of Creative Studies. RK received funding as a UCSB Academic Research Consortium Scholar.

We acknowledge the use of the NRI-MCDB Microscopy Facility and the Resonant Scanning Confocal supported by the NSF MRI grant DBI-1625770. Statistical consultation was provided by the DATALAB in the UCSB Department of Statistics and Applied Probability.

Some strains were provided by the Caenorhabditis Genetics Center, which is funded by NIH Office of Research Infrastructure Programs (P40 OD010440). We are grateful for the generous gifts of transgenic worms provided to us by the Treinin Lab (Hebrew University), Chalfie Lab (Columbia University), and Shen Lab (Stanford University).

2.7 Declaration of Interests

The authors declare no competing interests

2.8 Author Contributions

Caroline Ackley: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – Original Draft, Visualization, Supervision. Neda Ziaei Kajbaf: Methodology, Validation, Investigation. Lindsey Washiashi: Methodology, Validation, Investigation. Ruchira Krishnamurthy: Investigation, Formal Analysis. Pradeep Joshi: Conceptualization, Writing – Review & Editing. Joel Rothman: Conceptualization, Writing – Review & Editing, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

2.9 Supplemental data

Supplemental figures and tables can be found in Appendix A.



Figure 2.8: *mec-3* mutants and PVD- worms have altered neuronal morphology (A) *mec-3(e1338)* mutant worms have small TRN cell bodies that lack axons. (B) PVD neurons were ablated genetically, leaving TRNs intact.



Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate *C. elegans* Negative Gravitaxis Chapter 2

Figure 2.9: Genetic ablation of PVDs but not TRNs affects gravitaxis (A-B) Gravitaxis behavior of mec-3(e1338) dauers, dauers lacking TRNs only (mec-4 gof). dauers lacking PVD neurons only (ser2prom-3::deg-3), and N2 dauer controls. * p <0.05, ** p <0.01, *** p <0.001, **** p <0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskall-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.



Mechanosensory Systems and Sensory Integration Mediate *C. elegans* Negative Gravitaxis Chapter 2



(A-B) Adult worms demonstrate a strong negative gravitaxis preference similar to dauers. * p <0.05, ** p <0.01, *** p <0.001, **** p <0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskall-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.

Chapter 3

Large-scale gravitaxis assay of *Caenorhabditis* dauer larvae

3.1 Summary

This chapter outlines methods for conducting a large-scale gravitaxis assay with *Caenorhabditis* dauer larvae. This protocol allows for better detection of gravitaxis behavior compared with a plate-based assay.

3.2 Abstract

Gravity sensation is an important and relatively understudied process. Sensing gravity enables animals to navigate their surroundings and facilitates movement. Additionally, gravity sensation, which takes place in the inner ear in mammals, is closely related to hearing — thus, understanding this process has implications for auditory as well as vestibular research. Gravitaxis assays exist for some model organisms, including *Drosophila*. Single worms have previously been assayed for their orientation preference as they settle in solution. However, a reliable and robust assay for *Caenorhabditis* gravitaxis has not been described. The present protocol outlines a procedure for performing gravitaxis assays that can be used to test hundreds of *Caenorhabditis* dauers at a time. This large-scale, long-distance assay allows for detailed data collection, revealing phenotypes that may be missed on a standard plate-based assay. Dauer movement along the vertical axis is compared with horizontal controls to ensure that directional bias is due to gravity. Gravitactic preference can then be compared between strains or experimental conditions. This method can determine molecular, cellular, and environmental requirements for gravitaxis in worms.

3.3 Introduction

Sensing Earth's gravitational pull is crucial for many organisms' orientation, movement, coordination, and balance. However, the molecular mechanisms and neurocircuitry of gravity sensation are poorly understood compared with other senses. In animals, gravity sensation interacts with and can be outcompeted by other stimuli to influence behavior. Visual cues, proprioceptive feedback, and vestibular information can be integrated to generate a sense of body awareness relative to an animal's surroundings (Lacquaniti et al., 2014; Peterka, 2018). Conversely, gravitactic preference can be altered in the presence of other stimuli (Bostwick et al., 2020; Fedele et al., 2014; Ntefidou et al., 2002). Therefore, gravitactic behavior is an ideal system for studying gravity sensation and understanding the nervous system's complex sensory integration and decision-making.

C. elegans is an especially useful model organism for studying gravitaxis because of its polyphenic lifecycle. When exposed to stressors during development, including heat, overcrowding, or a lack of food, *C. elegans* larvae develop into dauers, which are highly stress-resistant (Frézal and Félix, 2015). As dauers, worms perform characteristic behaviors — such as nictation, in which worms "stand" on their tails and wave their heads — that may facilitate dispersal to better habitats (Lee et al., 2012). Gravitaxis assays of *C. elegans* and *C. japonica* suggest that dauer larvae negatively gravitaxis, and that this behavior is more readily observed in dauers than in adults (Ackley et al., 2022a; Okumura et al., 2013). Testing gravitaxis in other *Caenorhabditis* strains may reveal natural variation in gravitactic behavior.

Mechanisms for gravity sensation have been characterized in Euglena, Drosophila, *Ciona*, and various other species using gravitaxis assays (Bostwick et al., 2020; Häder and Hemmersbach, 2017; Sun et al., 2009). Meanwhile, gravitaxis studies in *Caenorhabditis* initially provided mixed results. A study of C. elegans orientational preference found that worms orient with their heads down in solution, suggesting positive gravitactic preference (Chen et al., 2021). Meanwhile, although C. japonica dauers were identified early on as being negatively gravitactic (Okumura et al., 2013), this behavior has only recently been described in C. elegans. Several challenges arise in developing a representative gravitaxis assay in worms. *Caenorhabditis* strains are maintained on agar plates; for this reason, behavioral assays typically use agar plates as part of their experimental design (Bargmann et al., 1993; Margie et al., 2013; Ward, 1973). The earliest reported gravitaxis assay in *Caenorhabditis* was performed by standing the plate on its side at a 90° angle to the horizontal control plate (Okumura et al., 2013). However, gravitaxis behavior is not always robust under these conditions. While adult worms can be assayed for orientational preference in solution (Chen et al., 2015), this directional preference may be context-dependent, leading to different behaviors if the worms are crawling rather than swimming. Additionally, C. elegans are known to be sensitive to other stimuli, including light and electromagnetic fields (Vidal-Gadea et al., 2015; Ward et al., 2008), which interfere with their responses to gravity (Ackley et al., 2022a). Therefore, an updated gravitaxis assay that shields against other environmental variables is important for dissecting the mechanisms of this sensory process.

In the present protocol, an assay for observing *Caenorhabditis* gravitaxis is described. The setup for this protocol is based in part on a method developed to study neuromuscular integrity (Bainbridge et al., 2016; Beron et al., 2015). Dauer larvae are cultured and isolated using standard procedures (Ow and Hall, 2015). They are then injected into chambers made from two 5 mL serological pipettes filled with agar. These chambers can be oriented vertically or horizontally and placed within a dark Faraday cage for 12-24 hours to shield against light and electromagnetic fields. The location of each worm in the chambers is recorded and compared with the vertical taxis of a reference strain such as *C. elegans* N2.

3.4 Protocol

The strains used in the present study are C. elegans (N2) and C. briggsae (AF16) (see Table B.1). A mixed-sex population of dauers was used for each assay.

- 1. Chamber preparation
 - 1.1 Work in a fume hood. Set up the workspace with a Bunsen burner, 1–2 razorblades, pliers, tweezers, and a plastic cutting surface (see Table B.1.
 - 1.2 For each chamber, gather two 5 mL serological pipettes. Remove the cotton plug from one pipette with tweezers. Hold a razorblade over the Bunsen burner until hot using pliers. Use the heated blade to slice off the tapered end of the second pipette so that the entire pipette has a uniform diameter (Fig. 3.1A).
 - 1.3 Working quickly, bring the two modified pipette ends close to the flame, melting them slightly. Join these ends by pressing them firmly together, ensuring

that the walls of both pipettes are continuous. If any gaps are visible after joining, break them apart and repeat this step (Fig. 3.1A,B).

- 2. Filling the chambers with agar
 - 2.1 Prepare NGM with 4% agar according to standard worm protocols (Chaudhuri et al., 2011). While the agar is still molten, fill each chamber by attaching it to a serological pipettor and slowly drawing up the solution. Seal the tip with paraffin film before removing the chamber from the pipettor. Lay the chamber flat (parallel to the benchtop) to cool.
 - **NOTE:** Covering the flask with cling-wrap after autoclaving helps prevent bubbles from forming in the solution (Bainbridge et al., 2016).
 - 2.2 To minimize any variations in the consistency of the agar due to uneven cooling, hold the pipettor (see Table B.1) parallel to the benchtop while drawing up agar. Lay the chambers flat on the benchtop and allow the agar to harden before moving.
 - **NOTE:** The agar percentage and media content can be tailored to the experiment. 4% agar is stiffer than the roughly 2% concentration used for plate pouring and prevents worms from digging through the medium in our hands. However, other experimenters have observed burrowing behavior by adult worms in up to 9% agar (Bainbridge et al., 2016; Beron et al., 2015).
 - 2.3 Once cooled, heat a 3 mm hex key (or another metal tool of the same size, see Table B.1) over a Bunsen burner. Firmly press it into the wall of each chamber about 5 mm to one side of the midline, creating a small opening in the plastic (Fig. 3.1C). Use a heated blade to remove the cotton and tapered ends of the chamber and seal these ends with paraffin film.

- **NOTE:** Once prepared, each chamber should be used within 1 day or may be kept at 4 °C for several days. Cover any exposed openings with paraffin film to prevent the agar from drying out.
- 3. Isolating dater larvae
 - 3.1 10–15 days prior to the start of the experiment, chunk each strain onto 2–3 large NGM plates with OP50 bacteria ad wrap with paraffin film. After 10–15 days, each plate must be fully starved with thousands of dauer larva present on the agar, wallls, and lids.
 - **NOTE:** Make plates ahead of time using a thick OP50 recipe for maximum crowding (see Table B.1. Dauer formation can also be induced through other methods, including the addition of pheromones or by growing at higher temperatures (Karp, 2018).
 - 3.2 Collect worms by rinsing the lids and plates with M9 buffer and pipetting the solution into 15 mL centrifuge tubes. Spin at 1,600 x g for 30–60 seconds at room temperature and aspirate most of the M9 buffer with a pipette a vacuum aspirator.
 - 3.3 Isolate dates by treating with 1% SDS followed by a 30% sucrose flotation gradient following the previously published report (Ow and Hall, 2015).
 - 3.4 Add 7 mL 1% SDS solution to each worm pellet. Leave the worms in SDS for 30 minutes; rotate the tubes continuously during this time to allow for aeration. Rinse 3–5x with M9 to remove the detergent.
 - 3.5 Next, add 5 mL M9 followed by 5 mL of cold, filtered 60% sucrose solution. Mix thoroughly, and then centrifuge at 1,600 x g for 5 minutes at room temperature to create a separation gradient.

- 3.6 Fill new 15 mL centrifuge tubes with 2 mL of M9 buffer. Crush the ends of glass Pasteur pipettes to widen the bore and use these pipettes to transfer the top layer of the solution (containing isolated dauers) from the sucrose gradient to the new tubes. Rinse the dauers 3–5x with M9.
- **NOTE:** There will be thousands of isolated dauers in solution at this point. They may be used immediately or kept aerated by rotating in 5–7 mL M9 overnight.
- 4. Add daters to the chamber
 - 4.1 Centrifuge dauers at 1,600 x g for 5 minutes at room temperature and aspirate most of the M9 solution with a pipette or vacuum aspirator. To estimate worm density, manually count the number of worms in three separate 1 μ droplets under a dissecting microscope. Use the average of these counts to approximate the number of worms per μ .
 - **NOTE:** Some small volume pipettors may be unable to reach the bottom of a 15 mL centrifuge tube; in this case, a concentrated droplet of worms can be transferred first to a piece of paraffin film.
 - 4.2 Cut the end of a 10, 20, or 200 μL pipette tip to widen the bore. Set the micropipette to a slightly larger volume than the intended aspiration volume. Aspirate approximately 1–2 μL of the concentrated worm solution (ideally between 100-300 worms) and allow a small amount of air to enter the tip.
 - **NOTE:** Large numbers of worms (1000+) in one chamber may increase the range of distances travelled due to overcrowding (Ackley et al., 2022a).
 - 4.3 Gently push the pipette tip into the agar while depressing the micropipette. This will create an injection site in the agar without clogging the tip. Release

the worms into the agar. Use paraffin film to seal the opening.

- 5. Running and scoring the assay
 - **NOTE:** Gravitaxis can be tested under various conditions that may affect behavior (Ackley et al., 2022a)
 - 5.2 To eliminate as many variables as possible, place the chambers within a dark Faraday cage (see Table B.1) at room temperature.
 - 5.3 Label each chamber and hang it vertically within the Faraday cage (perform this using labeling tape). Test horizontal controls concurrently by laying some chambers flat within the same environmental conditions. Test the experimental strains against vertically oriented N2 worms as a positive control. Use horizontally oriented chambers containing N2 dauers as an additional negative control.
 - **NOTE:** Horizontal and vertical assays must be performed in the same setting within the lab to minimize environmental variability between the two conditions. A large incubator may be used to house both Faraday cages.
 - 5.4 Dauers begin to disperse from the start site after a few hours and take several hours to reach either end of the chamber. Leave the chambers undisturbed during this time and score within 12–24 hours following injection.
 - **NOTE:** Do not use a paralytic (such as sodium azide) to immobilize worms that have reached the ends of the chambers. Because the overall distribution of worms is being measured instead of a preference index (as in a two-choice assay), sodium azide is unnecessary and may alter the results.
 - 5.5 Remove and score gravitaxis chambers one at a time. Look for live dauers under a dissecting microscope and mark their locations in ink (Fig. 3.1C,D).

Do not score worms within 2.5 cm to either side of the injection site, as these worms are not likely to be demonstrating a directional preference.

- 5.6 Also, avoid scoring worms that appear dead or are trapped in the liquid. Discard any chambers containing >50% dead or swimming worms.
- **NOTE:** Once the chamber has been removed from the testing area, it needs to be scored promptly for accuracy. Dauers must only be visible between the agar's surface and the pipette's wall. If burrowing behavior is observed, consider increasing agar concentration in future assays.
- 5.7 To quantify the results, use a marker to divide each half of the chamber into seven 3.5 cm sections starting 2.5 cm away from the injection site (on some pipettes, 3.5 cm = 1 mL volume). Use a manual tally counter (see Table B.1) to tally the number of worms observed in each section.
- **NOTE:** There should be seven sections on each side of the origin, which can be numbered from -7 (bottom) to +7 (top). These numbers must correspond to the same relative locations based on how the chambers were constructed; agar is drawn from the -7 end to the +7 end in step 2.

3.5 Representative Results

Comparing gravitaxis across species

Following the procedure outlined above, *C. briggsae* dauer gravitaxis can be compared with *C. elegans* gravitaxis as well as with horizontal controls. The vertical distribution (maroon) of *C. briggsae* dauers is skewed towards the tops of the chambers, with a large percentage of worms reaching +7 (Fig. 3.2A). Contrasted with horizontal controls (aqua), in which dauers are distributed in a roughly bell-shaped curve around the center



Figure 3.1: Gravitaxis assay chamber setup

Photos depicting steps of gravitaxis assay chamber preparation. A) Individual 5 mL pipettes prepared for fusion into single chamber. Removal of cotton plug indicated with black arrowhead; removal of tip indicated with white arrowhead. The tubes used in this study have an inner diamter of 6 mm and are each 34.5 cm long (prior to cutting) B) Completed chamber prior to addition of NGM agar. Pipettes have been fused by first melting over a Bunsen burner. C) Example chambers filled with NGM agar. The injection site is indicated with an arrow and enlarged in the inset. Worms have been marked in ink, and lines are drawn to distinguish distances along the chamber as well as to facilitate scoring. D) View of chambers in their entirety (taken after scoring).
of the chambers, this trend is indicative of negative gravitactic behavior. These data can be compared with *C. elegans* gravitaxis performed on the same experimental days (Fig. 3.2B).

A Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons reveals any significant differences between assays (Ackley et al., 2022a; Dinno, 2015). In this experiment, 1,108 *C. briggsae* dauers were scored across three vertical chambers from two independent experimental days. These worms migrated significantly upward compared with horizontal controls (p value <0.001; 1,639 dauers in three horizontal chambers over two experimental days). Moreover, the vertical *C. briggsae* and vertical *C. elegans* distributions did not differ (p >0.05; 386 *C. elegans* dauers in two vertical chambers over two experimental days). These results suggest that *C. briggsae* dauers show a negative gravitaxis behavior that is similar to that of *C. elegans* dauers.

3.6 Discussion

Comparison with prior methods

Unlike chemotaxis, gravitaxis in *Caenorhabditis* cannot be reliably observed using a traditional agar plate experimental design. A standard Petri dish is 150 mm in diameter, resulting in only 75 mm available in either direction for dauers to demonstrate gravitaxis preference. Although *C. elegans'* orientational preference can be assayed in solution (Chen et al., 2021), this method is low throughput as worms must be analyzed one at a time. Additionally, gravitactic preferences and behaviors may differ between worms floating in media versus crawling on a surface. For these reasons, we developed a high throughput assay with enhanced sensitivity that can be used to analyze gravitaxis behavior in crawling or climbing worms. Because *C. elegans* are sensitive to light and



Figure 3.2: Gravitaxis in C. briggsae vs. C. elegans

Results of gravitaxis in *C. briggsae* and *C. elegans.* **A)** Histogram of *C. briggsae gravitaxis.* Movement in vertical chambers (maroon) is compared with horizontal controls (aqua). Distance from the injection point (-7 being the furthest below, +7 furthest above) is plotted as percent of total worms assayed (x axis). No data are plotted for the origin (+0) as worms are not counted within 2.5 cm to either side of the injection site. N = 1,639 worms across three tubes **B**) Boxplots comparing distribution of *C. briggsae* horizontal and vertical worms versus *C. elegans* vertical worms. *C. briggsae* sample sizes are given above. *C. elegans* vertical N = 386 worms across two tubes. Means are indicated with white diamonds; vertical conditions are in maroon and are labeled "V", and horizontal conditions ("H") are in aqua. Comparisons were made using the Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. No stars = p > 0.05, **** = p < 0.0001. electromagnetic fields, both of which interfere with gravitactic preference (Ackley et al., 2022a), these assays need to be performed without either stimulus. If a homemade Faraday cage is being used, checking the cage's strength and reinforcing it are necessary and recommend.

The assay chambers described in this protocol measure approximately 54 cm in length and are placed within Faraday cages to shield against light and electromagnetic fields. It was found that changing the "arena" for observing gravitaxis behavior has several advantages. First, it allows for detailed quantification and descriptive analysis. The relative distances traveled, and overall distributions of worms can be collected and compared instead of counting the number of negatively versus positively gravitactic worms. Second, the enclosed environment of an agar-filled pipette more closely replicates the conditions that may promote gravitaxis in the wild. As stated above, the dauer stage is a dispersal phase that allows escaping from unfavorable conditions (Frézal and Félix, 2015). Because *Caenorhabditis* live in compost, where guiding cues such as light may not be available, gravity may enable worms to navigate to the surface (Frézal and Félix, 2015; Ackley et al., 2022a). Two-dimensional plate-based assays are unlikely to replicate these conditions even if they are tested in the absence of other stimuli. Finally, this larger apparatus allows for testing larger quantities of worms in a single assay.

Limitations and other considerations

While this protocol effectively measures gravitactic preference in large numbers of dauers, it is impractical for small or single worm experiments due to the time and materials required to construct each chamber. By combining counts across trials rather than using a gravitaxis index, statistical power is increased because each worm is treated as an independent event. While this enhanced sensitivity is useful in differentiating gravitactic and non-gravitactic worms, it is important to note that C. elegans dauers exhibit social behaviors (Lee et al., 2012; Gray et al., 2004) that could affect overall gravitaxis. We found that higher worm densities are correlated with a greater range in the distance traveled over the large-scale assay, though this effect is minimal when the total count is less than approximately 1,000 worms (Ackley et al., 2022a). Interaction effects resulting from factors such as the total worms in each chamber should be monitored when analyzing the data. As with all behavioral assays, scoring should be blinded when possible.

Finding an average density of worms in the solution can minimize variability in the number of worms injected from chamber to chamber. Worms quickly settle in solution, so mixing the worms before pipetting, either by flicking the tubes or pipetting up and down with a wide-bore tip is important. Even when a consistent density is achieved, the number of worms added may vary because worms are likely to stick to the inside surface of the plastic pipette tips. Coating pipette tips with BSA or other solutions could minimize this effect. Worms must be injected with as little solution as possible; if too much liquid is added to the chamber, worms will become trapped in the solution and may even drift. For this reason, only live, crawling worms must not be used. Chambers are to be removed from the Faraday cage one at a time and scored within 10–15 min for the greatest accuracy.

Potential applications

This assay may be used to test the environmental, genetic, and cellular requirements for gravitaxis in a variety of *Caenorhabditis* strains. So far, light and electromagnetic fields have been identified as stimuli that interfere with gravitaxis (Ackley et al., 2022a). However, *C. elegans* is sensitive to of other stimuli, including temperature, volatile and non-volatile chemicals, texture, humidity, and sound, which influence their behavior (Goodman and Sengupta, 2019; Iliff et al., 2021; Iliff and Xu, 2020; Russell et al., 2014). Understanding how various sensory inputs are integrated within the nervous system is an outstanding question in neuroscience, particularly when integration occurs at the level of individual neurons (Ackley et al., 2022a; Chen and Chalfie, 2014; Metaxakis et al., 2018; Stockand and Eaton, 2013; Wicks and Rankin, 1995). Sensory integration is especially important in the context of proprioception, which is itself an integrative modality that draws from multiple sensory cues (Peterka, 2018).

Understanding gravity sensation in *Caenorhabditis* has implications for human health. Millions of individuals suffer from vestibular dysfunction in the United States alone (Mackowetzky et al., 2021), and many of these disorders have underlying genetic causes (Eppsteiner and Smith, 2011; Roman-Naranjo et al., 2018). For this reason, the identification of gene candidates and targeted therapies is an active area of research (Mei et al., 2021). Additionally, because vertebrate vestibular and auditory systems are closely linked developmentally and evolutionarily (Mackowetzky et al., 2021; Mei et al., 2021; Weghorst and Cramer, 2019), elucidating gravity sensation could also provide insight into hearing and hearing disorders.

3.7 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by research grants from the National Institutes of Health to JHR (#R01 5R01HD081266 and #R01GM141493). Some strains were provided by the CGC, which is funded by NIH Office of Research Infrastructure Programs (P40 OD010440). We would like to acknowledge Pradeep Joshi (UCSB) for his editorial input. Statistical consultation provided by the UCSB DATALAB.

3.8 Disclosures

The authors declare no competing interests.

3.9 Author contributions

Lindsey Washiashi, Ruchira Krishnamurthy, and Joel Rothman all contributed to this work.

3.10 Supplemental data

A table of materials can be found in Appendix B (Table B.1)

Chapter 4

Conclusion

4.1 Summary and future directions

Gravity sensation is critical for movement, coordination, and balance, and contributes to overall proprioception in animals. Studying gravitactic behavior in *C. elegans* can uncover new genes and pathways involved in gravity sensation that can be extrapolated to other mechanosensory systems. Through observing negative gravitaxis in worms, I identified three genes — MEC-7, MEC-12, and TRPA-1 — that are required for this behavior. This is the first known connection between MEC-7/12 tubulins and TRPA-1, which opens several avenues for future research. While the role of MEC-7/12 microtubules has been well-established for gentle touch sensation, little is known about their function outside of the TRNs. Both proteins are expressed in other neurons but only form 15 protofilament structures in TRNs (Chalfie and Thomson, 1979). Additionally, MEC-12 likely has multiple functions in mechanosensation besides anchoring MEC-4/10 channels and forming TRN axons; the *mec-12* allele used in this research, *e1605*, affects gentle touch sensation and gravitaxis without disrupting TRN development (Bounoutas et al., 2009, 2011; Chalfie and Au, 1989). Although an association between TRPA-1 and these microtubule subunits has been found, how these proteins interact as well as other components involved in this pathway have not yet been identified.

Likewise, while a pair of neurons, the proprioceptive PVDL and PVDR neurons, were identified as essential for negative gravitaxis, other neurons should be investigated for their role in this behavior. PVDL/R could be the primary graviperceptive neurons because they express MEC-7, MEC-12, and TRPA-1. However, they could also serve as integration centers for multiple proprioceptive cues. Ciliated neurons, such as the IL2 neurons required for nictation (Lee et al., 2012), should be examined because of the prevalence of ciliated neurons in other mechanosensory systems (Bezares-Calderón et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2009). Additionally, it would be of interest to investigate candidate genes that would explain how minute gravitational forces are transduced in an animal as small as *C. elegans*, which has no known statoliths or similar organelles.

Appendix A

Chapter 2 Supplemental

A.1 Supplemental Figures



Figure A.1: Faraday cage integrity influences gravitactic behavior

Plot of Gravitaxis Index (GI) — calculated as the sum of worms in the top half of the chamber (segments +1 to +7) minus worms in the bottom half (-1 to -7) divided by the total — for all chambers across different experimental days. Dashed line indicates reinforcement of the Faraday cage.



Figure A.2: mec-4 null mutants do not gravitax

(A) Histograms depicting horizontal and vertical movement of 2 and mec-4(u253) dauers. (B) Box plots summarizing data shown in A. mec-4(u253) vertical: n = 2,075 worms over 7 trials; horizontal n = 2,130 worms over 4 trials. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskall-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.



Figure A.3: LSJ1 dauers negatively gravitax to a lesser extent compared with N2 (A) Histograms depicting horizontal and vertical movements of N2 and LSJ1 dauers. (B) LSJ1 vertical n = 1,666 worms over 7 trials; horizontal n = 2,510 worms over 4 trials; horizontal n = 2,130 worms over 4 trials. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001; n.s. is not significant using Kruskall-Wallis followed by Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction. Notches on boxplots represent 95% confidence intervals; mean values are indicated with a diamond.

A.2 Supplemental Table

Strain	Genotype	Source
N2	wildtype strain	CGC
LSJ1	wildtype strain	CGC
CB75	mec-2(e75) X.	CGC
CB1338	mec-3(e1338) IV.	CGC
CB1339	mec-4(e1339) X.	CGC
CB1611	mec-4(e1611) X.	CGC
TU253	mec-4(u253) X.	CGC
RB1708	mec-7(ok2152) X.	CGC
ZB2551	mec-10(tm1552) X.	CGC
CB3284	mec-12(e1605) III.	CGC
TU265	mec-17(u265) IV.	CGC
TU228	mec-18(u228) X.	CGC
CZ8920	cebp-1(tm2807) X.	CGC
TQ233	trpa-1(ok999) IV.	CGC
TU4295	uIS152[mec-3p::RFP]	Chalfie Lab
TV16911	wyIs592[ser-2prom-3::myr-GFP + Podr-1::RFP] III.	Shen Lab
MF288	ser-2prom-3::DEG-3-N293I]	Treinin Lab
JR4448	uIS152[mec-3p::RFP];	TU4295 X TV16911
	wyIs592[ser-2prom-3::myr-GFP + Podr-1::RFP] III.	
JR4460	mec-4(e1611) X; uIS152[mec-3p::RFP];	JR4448 X CB1611
	wyIs592[ser-2prom-3::myr-GFP + Podr-1::RFP] III.	

Table A.1:	List	of strains	used	in	this	study
10010 11.1.	100	or serams	aboa	***	OTTO	Source

Appendix B

Chapter 3 Supplemental

B.1 Supplemental Table

Material	Comments	
1% Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate solution	From stock 10% (w/v) SDS in DI water	
15 mL Centrifuge tubes		
3 mm Metal tool (e.g, hex key)		
4% Agar in Normal Growth Medium (NGM) - 1L	Prior to autoclaving: 3 g NaCl, 40 g Agar, 2.5 g Peptone, 2 g Dextrose, 10 mL Uracil (2 mg/mL), 500 μ L Cholesterol (10 mg/mL), 1 mL CaCl2, 962 mL DI water; After autoclav- ing: 24.5 mL Phosphate buffer, 1 mL 1 MgSo4 (1 M), 1 mL Streptomycin (200 mg/mL)	
5 mL Serological pipettes	Polystyrene, not borosilicate glass	
60% Cold sucrose solution	60% sucrose (w/v) in DI water; sterilize by filtration (0.45 μm filter). Keep at 4 °C	
AF16 <i>C. briggsae</i> or other experimen- tal strain	Available from the CGC (<i>Caenorhabditis</i> Genetics Center)	
Bunsen burner		
Cling-wrap		
Clinical centrifuge		
Disposable razor blades		
Faraday cage	Can be constructed using cardboard and alu- minum foil	
Ink markers	Sharpie brand or others for marking on plastic	

Table B.1: List of Materials

(Continued on next page)

Table B.2: List of Materia	ls (continued)
----------------------------	----------------

Material	Comments		
M9 Buffer	22 mM KH2PO4, 42 mM Na2HPO4,		
	86 mM NaCl		
N2 C. elegans strain	Available from the CGC		
	(<i>Caenorhabditis</i> Genetics Center)		
NGM plates with OP50	$1.7\%~(\mathrm{w/v})$ agar in NGM (see description above)		
Paraffin film			
Plastic cutting boards			
Pliers			
Rotating vertical mixer	With $22 \ge 15$ mL tube bar		
Serological pipettor			
Stereomicroscope			
Tally counter			
Thick NGM/agar plate media - 1 L $$	See 4% Agar in NGM recipe;		
	replace 40 g Agar with 20 g Agar		
Tweezers			

Appendix C

Future Directions: Video Tracking

C.1 Adult Gravitaxis in Pluoronic Acid



Figure C.1: Adult gravitaxis in pluoronic acid

N2 adult worms were embedded in 20% pluoronic acid in square vials. Recordings taken in a dark room with a Hamamatsu Orca-ER camera at 1 frame/10 seconds using 700 nm light. To enable processing, videos were first converted to 8-bit, then adjusted for brightness and contrast in FIJI. A Z-projection of minimum intensity was created and subtracted from the stack to remove background noise. (Continued on following page)

74

The video was then split into 100-frame segments and every other frame was removed to reduce the file size. The Temporal-Color Code plugin in FIJI was then applied to create timelapse tracks of worm movement. (**B**,**D**) Vectors tracing overall worm trajectories were drawn manually in FIJI. (**A**,**B**) 16-32 minutes (**C**,**D**) 33-49 min.

C.2 Dauer Gravitaxis in Pluoronic Acid



0-3 hrs

Figure C.2: Dauer gravitaxis in pluoronic acid

N2 dauer worms were embedded in 30% pluoronic acid and recorded as described above. Images shown here were taken at frame 1, 270, 540, 810, and 1080. Dispersal from the center is outlined in red at frame 1080 and the starting position is marked with a dashed line.



Figure C.3: Adult gravitaxis on glass slides (example 1)

(Caption on following page)

Worms expressing red fluorescent protein in muscle cells were mounted on a 1% agarose pad on a glass slide in M9 buffer and the slide was sealed using a coverslip and Valap. The slide was then held vertically using a ring stand and clamp, and a recording was taken at 1 frame/sec for 1 hour under 700 nm light. For processing, the resulting video was converted to 8-bit and adjusted in FIJI as described previously. The video was then split into 511 frame segments, and worm movements were traced using the Temporal-Color Code plugin in FIJI.



Figure C.4: Adult gravitaxis on glass slides (example 2)

(Caption on following page)

Worms were first rinsed in chemotaxis buffer before being mounted on a 2% agarose pad as described above. A recording was taken at 1 frame/sec for 2 hours. Overhead white light was turned on at frame 6855 (1.9 hours) to assess phototaxis behavior. The resulting video was processed in FIJI using Temporal-Color Code on 263-frame segments. The black arrowhead denotes approximate white-light ON point in the final segment.

C.5 Manual Worm Tracking



Figure C.5: Example of manual worm tracking using MTrackJ

The video from the previous figure was rotated 90 deg counter-clockwise for blinding. Worms were then tracked manually using MTrackJ (Meijering et al., 2012) in FIJI. A full be video can be found using the following DOI: 10.6084/m9.figshare.21568479.

Appendix D

Future Directions: Motility assays

D.1 Assessing vertical motility



Figure D.1: A chemotaxis vs. gravitaxis assay to asses vertical motility (Caption on following page)

Chemotaxis plates positioned vertically and horizontally were used to determine if strains showed motility deficits depending on orientation. A chemoattractant (red asterisk) is plated 0.5 cm from the top of a 15 cm plate and isolated dauers were plated 6.5 cm from this point (red arrowhead). The plates were then oriented either vertically (with the chemoattractant at the top) or horizontally in the dark for 30 minutes, then scored using a marker. Plates were then imaged using a desktop scanner and worm movement can be quantified using FIJI.

Bibliography

- C. Ackley, N. Z. Kajbaf, L. Washiashi, R. Krishnamurthy, P. Joshi, and J. H. Rothman. Parallel mechanosensory systems are required for negative gravitaxis in c. elegans. Technical report, UC Santa Barbara, 3 2022a. URL https://www.biorxiv.org/ content/10.1101/2022.03.03.482913v1. DOI: 10.1101/2022.03.03.482913 section: New Results type: article.
- C. Ackley, L. Washiashi, R. Krishnamurthy, and J. H. Rothman. Largeof Scale Gravitaxis Assay Caenorhabditis Dauer Larvae. JoVE(Journal of Visualized Experiments), (183):e64062,May 2022b. ISSN 1940-087X. doi: 10.3791/64062. URL https://www.jove.com/v/64062/ large-scale-gravitaxis-assay-of-caenorhabditis-dauer-larvae.
- K. Adamopoulos, D. Koutsouris, A. Zaravinos, and G. I. Lambrou. Gravitational Influence on Human Living Systems and the Evolution of Species on Earth. *Molecules* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 26(9):2784, May 2021. ISSN 1420-3049. doi: 10.3390/ molecules26092784.
- J. S. Akella, D. Wloga, J. Kim, N. G. Starostina, S. Lyons-Abbott, N. S. Morrissette, S. T. Dougan, E. T. Kipreos, and J. Gaertig. Mec-17 is an α-tubulin acetyltransferase. *Nature*, 467(7312):218–222, 9 2010. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/nature09324.
- A. Albeg, C. J. Smith, M. Chatzigeorgiou, D. G. Feitelson, D. H. Hall, W. R. Schafer, D. M. Miller, and M. Treinin. C. elegans multi-dendritic sensory neurons: Morphology and function. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 46(1):308–317, 1 2011. ISSN 1044-7431. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010.10.001.
- Z. Altun. Worm atlas: Individual neuron list, 2022. URL https://www.wormatlas. org/neurons/Individual%20Neurons/Neuronframeset.html.
- J.-E. Bae, S. Bang, S. Min, S.-H. Lee, S.-H. Kwon, Y. Lee, Y.-H. Lee, J. Chung, and K.-S. Chae. Positive geotactic behaviors induced by geomagnetic field in drosophila. *Molecular Brain*, 9(1):55, 12 2016. ISSN 1756-6606. doi: 10.1186/s13041-016-0235-1.
- C. Bainbridge, A. Schuler, and A. Vidal-Gadea. Method for the assessment of neuromuscular integrity and burrowing choice in vermiform animals. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 264:40–46, 5 2016. ISSN 01650270. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2016.02.023.

- C. I. Bargmann. Chemosensation in c. elegans. *WormBook*, 2006. doi: 10.1895/wormbook.1.123.1.
- C. I. Bargmann, E. Hartwieg, and H. R. Horvitz. Odorant-selective genes and neurons mediate olfaction in c. elegans. *Cell*, 74(3):515–527, 8 1993. ISSN 0092-8674. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80053-H.
- K. Beisel and B. Fritzsch. Keeping Sensory Cells and Evolving Neurons to Connect Them to the Brain: Molecular Conservation and Novelties in Vertebrate Ear Development. *Brain, behavior and evolution*, 64(3):182–197, 2004. ISSN 0006-8977. doi: 10.1159/ 000079746. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1242196/.
- J. A. Bender and M. A. Frye. Invertebrate solutions for sensing gravity. Current Biology, 19(5):R186–R190, 3 2009. ISSN 09609822. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.024.
- C. Beron, A. G. Vidal-Gadea, J. Cohn, A. Parikh, G. Hwang, and J. T. Pierce-Shimomura. The burrowing behavior of the nematode caenorhabditis elegans: a new assay for the study of neuromuscular disorders. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 14(4): 357–368, 2015. ISSN 1601-183X. doi: 10.1111/gbb.12217.
- L. A. Bezares-Calderón, J. Berger, and G. Jékely. Diversity of cilia-based mechanosensory systems and their functions in marine animal behaviour. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 375(1792):20190376, 2 2020. ISSN 1471-2970. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0376. PMID: 31884914 PMCID: PMC7017336.
- M. Bostwick, E. L. Smith, C. Borba, E. Newman-Smith, I. Guleria, M. J. Kourakis, and W. C. Smith. Antagonistic inhibitory circuits integrate visual and gravitactic behaviors. *Current Biology*, 30(4):600–609.e2, 2 2020. ISSN 09609822. doi: 10.1016/j. cub.2019.12.017.
- A. Bounoutas, R. O'Hagan, and M. Chalfie. The multipurpose 15-protofilament microtubules in c. elegans have specific roles in mechanosensation. *Current biology: CB*, 19(16):1362–1367, 8 2009. ISSN 1879-0445. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.06.036. PMID: 19615905 PMCID: PMC2757273.
- A. Bounoutas, J. Kratz, L. Emtage, C. Ma, K. C. Nguyen, and M. Chalfie. Microtubule depolymerization in caenorhabditis elegans touch receptor neurons reduces gene expression through a p38 mapk pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(10):3982–3987, 3 2011. ISSN 0027-8424, 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1101360108. PMID: 21368137.
- A. J. Bretscher, K. E. Busch, and d. M. Bono. A carbon dioxide avoidance behavior is integrated with responses to ambient oxygen and food in caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(23):8044–8049, 6 2008. ISSN 0027-8424, 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707607105. PMID: 18524954.

- A. L. Brown, Z. Liao, and M. B. Goodman. Mec-2 and mec-6 in the caenorhabditis elegans sensory mechanotransduction complex: Auxiliary subunits that enable channel activity. *The Journal of General Physiology*, 131(6):605–616, 6 2008. ISSN 0022-1295. doi: 10.1085/jgp.200709910.
- J. Byrne Rodgers and W. S. Ryu. Targeted thermal stimulation and high-content phenotyping reveal that the C. elegans escape response integrates current behavioral state and past experience. *PloS One*, 15(3):e0229399, 2020. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229399.
- M. Carr, B. S. C. Leadbeater, R. Hassan, M. Nelson, and S. L. Baldauf. Molecular phylogeny of choanoflagellates, the sister group to Metazoa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(43):16641–16646, Oct. 2008. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801667105. URL http://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.0801667105. Publisher: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- M. A. Carrillo, M. L. Guillermin, S. Rengarajan, R. Okubo, and E. A. Hallem. O2sensing neurons control CO2 response in C. elegans. *The Journal of neuroscience : the* official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 33(23):9675–9683, June 2013. ISSN 0270-6474. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4541-12.2013. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3721734/.
- M. Chalfie and M. Au. Genetic control of differentiation of the caenorhabditis elegans touch receptor neurons. *Science*, 243(4894):1027–1033, 2 1989. ISSN 0036-8075, 1095-9203. doi: 10.1126/science.2646709. publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science section: Articles PMID: 2646709.
- M. Chalfie and J. Sulston. Developmental genetics of the mechanosensory neurons of caenorhabditis elegans. *Developmental Biology*, 82(2):358–370, 3 1981. ISSN 00121606. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(81)90459-0.
- M. Chalfie and J. N. Thomson. Organization of neuronal microtubules in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 82(1):278–289, July 1979. ISSN 0021-9525. doi: 10.1083/jcb.82.1.278. URL https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.82.1.278.
- M. Chalfie and J. N. Thomson. Structural and functional diversity in the neuronal microtubules of caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 93(1):15–23, 4 1982. ISSN 0021-9525. doi: 10.1083/jcb.93.1.15.
- M. Chalfie, J. Sulston, J. White, E. Southgate, J. Thomson, and S. Brenner. The neural circuit for touch sensitivity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 5(4):956-964, Apr. 1985. ISSN 0270-6474, 1529-2401. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.05-04-00956.1985. URL https://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.05-04-00956.1985.

- M. Chatzigeorgiou, S. Yoo, J. D. Watson, W.-H. Lee, W. C. Spencer, K. S. Kindt, S. W. Hwang, D. M. Miller, M. Treinin, M. Driscoll, and W. R. Schafer. Specific roles for deg/enac and trp channels in touch and thermosensation in c. elegans nociceptors. *Nature Neuroscience*, 13(7):861–868, 7 2010. ISSN 1546-1726. doi: 10.1038/nn.2581. PMID: 20512132 PMCID: PMC2975101.
- M. Chatzigeorgiou, S. Bang, S. W. Hwang, and W. R. Schafer. tmc-1 encodes a sodiumsensitive channel required for salt chemosensation in c. elegans. *Nature*, 494(7435): 95–99, 2 2013. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/nature11845.
- J. Chaudhuri, M. Parihar, and A. Pires-daSilva. An introduction to worm lab: from culturing worms to mutagenesis. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, 47, 1 2011. ISSN 1940-087X. doi: 10.3791/2293. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC3341104/. PMID: 21248706 PMCID: PMC3341104.
- D. S. Chelur, G. G. Ernstrom, M. B. Goodman, C. A. Yao, L. Chen, R. O' Hagan, and M. Chalfie. The mechanosensory protein MEC-6 is a subunit of the C. elegans touchcell degenerin channel. *Nature*, 420(6916):669–673, Dec. 2002. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/nature01205.
- C.-H. Chen, A. Lee, C.-P. Liao, Y.-W. Liu, and C.-L. Pan. Rhgf-1/pdz-rhogef and retrograde dlk-1 signaling drive neuronal remodeling on microtubule disassembly. *Pro*ceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111 (46):16568–16573, 11 2014. ISSN 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1410263111. PMID: 25359212 PMCID: PMC4246272.
- W.-L. Chen, H. Ko, H.-S. Chuang, D. M. Raizen, and H. H. Bau. Caenorhabditis elegans exhibits positive gravitaxis. *BMC Biology*, 19(1):186, 9 2021. ISSN 1741-7007. doi: 10.1186/s12915-021-01119-9.
- X. Chen and M. Chalfie. Modulation of c. elegans touch sensitivity is integrated at multiple levels. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(19):6522–6536, 5 2014. ISSN 0270-6474, 1529-2401. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0022-14.2014. PMID: 24806678.
- X. Chen, M. D. Cuadros, and M. Chalfie. Identification of nonviable genes affecting touch sensitivity in caenorhabditis elegans using neuronally enhanced feeding rna interference. G3: Genes|Genomes|Genetics, 5(3):467–475, 1 2015. ISSN 2160-1836. doi: 10.1534/g3.114.015776. PMID: 25575561 PMCID: PMC4349099.
- S. J. Cook, T. A. Jarrell, C. A. Brittin, Y. Wang, A. E. Bloniarz, M. A. Yakovlev, K. C. Q. Nguyen, L. T.-H. Tang, E. A. Bayer, J. S. Duerr, H. E. Bülow, O. Hobert, D. H. Hall, and S. W. Emmons. Whole-animal connectomes of both Caenorhabditis elegans sexes. *Nature*, 571(7763):63–71, July 2019. ISSN 0028-0836, 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1352-7. URL http://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-019-1352-7.

- D. P. Corey, J. García-Añoveros, J. R. Holt, K. Y. Kwan, S.-Y. Lin, M. A. Vollrath, A. Amalfitano, E. L.-M. Cheung, B. H. Derfler, A. Duggan, G. S. G. Géléoc, P. A. Gray, M. P. Hoffman, H. L. Rehm, D. Tamasauskas, and D.-S. Zhang. Trpa1 is a candidate for the mechanosensitive transduction channel of vertebrate hair cells. *Nature*, 432 (7018):723–730, 12 2004. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/nature03066. number: 7018 publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- C. D. Cox, N. Bavi, and B. Martinac. Bacterial Mechanosensors. Annual Review of Physiology, 80:71–93, Feb. 2018. ISSN 1545-1585. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-physiol-021317-121351.
- M. de Bono and C. I. Bargmann. Natural variation in a neuropeptide y receptor homolog modifies social behavior and food response in c. elegans. *Cell*, 94(5):679–689, 9 1998. ISSN 0092-8674. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81609-8.
- P. Delmas, J. Hao, and L. Rodat-Despoix. Molecular mechanisms of mechanotransduction in mammalian sensory neurons. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 12(3):139– 153, Mar. 2011. ISSN 1471-003X, 1471-0048. doi: 10.1038/nrn2993. URL http: //www.nature.com/articles/nrn2993.
- A. Dinno. Nonparametric Pairwise Multiple Comparisons in Independent Groups using Dunn's Test. The Stata Journal, 15(1):292-300, Apr. 2015. ISSN 1536-867X. doi: 10. 1177/1536867X1501500117. URL https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X1501500117. Publisher: SAGE Publications.
- J. S. Duncan and B. Fritzsch. Evolution of sound and balance perception: innovations that aggregate single hair cells into the ear and transform a gravistatic sensor into the organ of corti. Anatomical Record (Hoboken, N.J.: 2007), 295(11):1760–1774, Nov. 2012. ISSN 1932-8494. doi: 10.1002/ar.22573.
- L. Emtage, G. Gu, E. Hartwieg, and M. Chalfie. Extracellular proteins organize the mechanosensory channel complex in c. elegans touch receptor neurons. *Neuron*, 44(5): 795–807, 12 2004. ISSN 0896-6273. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.11.010.
- R. W. Eppsteiner and R. J. Smith. Genetic disorders of the vestibular system. Current opinion in otolaryngology & head and neck surgery, 19(5):397–402, 10 2011. ISSN 1068-9508. doi: 10.1097/MOO.0b013e32834a9852. PMID: 21825995 PMCID: PMC4345041.
- G. G. Ernstrom and M. Chalfie. Genetics of Sensory Mechanotransduction. Annual Review of Genetics, 36(1):411-453, Dec. 2002. ISSN 0066-4197. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.genet.36.061802.101708. URL https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10. 1146/annurev.genet.36.061802.101708. Publisher: Annual Reviews.
- D. Fay. Genetic mapping and manipulation: Chapter 1-introduction and basics. Worm-Book, 2006. ISSN 15518507. doi: 10.1895/wormbook.1.90.1. URL http://www.

wormbook.org/chapters/www_introandbasics/introandbasics.html. [Online; accessed 2022-03-03].

- G. Fedele, E. W. Green, E. Rosato, and C. P. Kyriacou. An electromagnetic field disrupts negative geotaxis in drosophila via a cry-dependent pathway. *Nature Communications*, 5:4391, 7 2014. ISSN 2041-1723. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5391. PMID: 25019586 PMCID: PMC4104433.
- M.-A. Félix and C. Braendle. The natural history of caenorhabditis elegans. Current Biology, 20:R695–R969, 11 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.09.050.
- L. Frézal and M.-A. Félix. C. elegans outside the petri dish. *eLife*, 4, 3 2015. ISSN 2050-084X. doi: 10.7554/eLife.05849. URL https://elifesciences.org/articles/05849. [Online; accessed 2018-08-01].
- B. Fritzsch and K. Beisel. Evolution and development of the vertebrate ear. Brain Research Bulletin, 55(6):711-721, Aug. 2001. ISSN 03619230. doi: 10.1016/ S0361-9230(01)00558-5. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0361923001005585.
- B. Fritzsch, B. J. Kopecky, and J. S. Duncan. Chapter 12 development of the mammalian 'vestibular' system: Evolution of form to detect angular and gravity acceleration. In R. Romand and I. Varela-Nieto, editors, *Development of Auditory* and Vestibular Systems, pages 339-367. Academic Press, San Diego, 1 2014. ISBN 978-0-12-408088-1. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780124080881000129. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-408088-1.00012-9.
- B. Fritzsch, A. Erives, D. Eberl, and E. Yamoah. Genetics of Mechanoreceptor Evolution and Development. In *Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychol*ogy. Elsevier, Jan. 2020. ISBN 978-0-12-809324-5. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5. 24192-8. Journal Abbreviation: Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology.
- C. V. Gabel, H. Gabel, D. Pavlichin, A. Kao, D. A. Clark, and A. D. T. Samuel. Neural Circuits Mediate Electrosensory Behavior in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(28):7586-7596, July 2007. ISSN 0270-6474, 1529-2401. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0775-07.2007. URL https://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0775-07.2007.
- Y. Gao, D. Xu, L. Zhao, M. Zhang, and Y. Sun. Effects of microgravity on dna damage response in caenorhabditis elegans during shenzhou-8 spaceflight. *International Journal* of Radiation Biology, 91(7):531–539, 7 2015. ISSN 0955-3002. doi: 10.3109/09553002. 2015.1043754. PMID: 25965668.

- Y. Gao, D. Xu, L. Zhao, and Y. Sun. The dna damage response of c. elegans affected by gravity sensing and radiosensitivity during the shenzhou-8 spaceflight. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 795:15–26, 1 2017. ISSN 0027-5107. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2017.01.001.
- R. Gaudet. A primer on ankyrin repeat function in TRP channels and beyond. *Molecular bioSystems*, 4(5):372–379, May 2008. ISSN 1742-206X. doi: 10.1039/b801481g. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3006086/.
- J. C. Glover. Vestibular System. In L. R. Squire, editor, *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience*, pages 127-132. Academic Press, Oxford, Jan. 2004. ISBN 978-0-08-045046-9. doi: 10. 1016/B978-008045046-9.00273-4. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/B9780080450469002734.
- M. B. Goodman and E. M. Schwarz. Transducing touch in caenorhabditis elegans. Annual Review of Physiology, 65:429–452, 2003. ISSN 0066-4278. doi: 10.1146/annurev. physiol.65.092101.142659. PMID: 12524464.
- M. B. Goodman and P. Sengupta. How caenorhabditis elegans senses mechanical stress, temperature, and other physical stimuli. *Genetics*, 212(1):25–51, 5 2019. ISSN 0016-6731, 1943-2631. doi: 10.1534/genetics.118.300241. PMID: 31053616.
- M. B. Goodman, G. G. Ernstrom, D. S. Chelur, R. O'Hagan, C. A. Yao, and M. Chalfie. MEC-2 regulates C. elegans DEG/ENaC channels needed for mechanosensation. *Nature*, 415(6875):1039–1042, Feb. 2002. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/4151039a.
- J. M. Gray, D. S. Karow, H. Lu, A. J. Chang, J. S. Chang, R. E. Ellis, M. A. Marletta, and C. I. Bargmann. Oxygen sensation and social feeding mediated by a c. elegans guanylate cyclase homologue. *Nature*, 430(6997):317–322, 7 2004. ISSN 0028-0836, 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/nature02714.
- G. Gu, G. A. Caldwell, and M. Chalfie. Genetic interactions affecting touch sensitivity in caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(13): 6577–6582, 6 1996. ISSN 0027-8424, 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.13.6577.
- A. Guisnet, M. Maitra, S. Pradhan, and M. Hendricks. A three-dimensional habitat for c. elegans environmental enrichment. *PLOS ONE*, 16(1):e0245139, 1 2021. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245139. publisher: Public Library of Science.
- M. Hammarlund, O. Hobert, D. M. Miller, and N. Sestan. The CeNGEN Project: The Complete Gene Expression Map of an Entire Nervous System. *Neuron*, 99(3):430– 433, Aug. 2018. ISSN 0896-6273. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.07.042. URL https: //www.cell.com/neuron/abstract/S0896-6273(18)30640-8. Publisher: Elsevier.

- L. Han, Y. Wang, R. Sangaletti, G. D'Urso, Y. Lu, S. Shaham, and L. Bianchi. Two novel deg/enac channel subunits expressed in glia are needed for nose-touch sensitivity in caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(3):936–949, 1 2013. ISSN 1529-2401. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2749-12.2013. PMID: 23325233 PMCID: PMC3711640.
- P. Hilber. The Role of the Cerebellar and Vestibular Networks in Anxiety Disorders and Depression: the Internal Model Hypothesis. *The Cerebellum*, Apr. 2022. ISSN 1473-4230. doi: 10.1007/s12311-022-01400-9. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12311-022-01400-9.
- O. Hobert. The neuronal genome of Caenorhabditis elegans. WormBook, pages 1– 106, Aug. 2013. ISSN 15518507. doi: 10.1895/wormbook.1.161.1. URL http://www. wormbook.org/chapters/www_neuronalgenome/neuronalgenome.html.
- Y. Honda, A. Higashibata, Y. Matsunaga, Y. Yonezawa, T. Kawano, A. Higashitani, K. Kuriyama, T. Shimazu, M. Tanaka, N. J. Szewczyk, N. Ishioka, and S. Honda. Genes down-regulated in spaceflight are involved in the control of longevity in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Scientific Reports*, 2:487, 7 2012. ISSN 2045-2322. doi: 10.1038/srep00487.
- Y. Honda, S. Honda, M. Narici, and N. J. Szewczyk. Spaceflight and ageing: Reflecting on caenorhabditis elegans in space. *Gerontology*, 60(2):138–142, 2014. ISSN 0304-324X, 1423-0003. doi: 10.1159/000354772. PMID: 24217152.
- T. B. Huber, B. Schermer, R. U. Müller, M. Höhne, M. Bartram, A. Calixto, H. Hagmann, C. Reinhardt, F. Koos, K. Kunzelmann, E. Shirokova, D. Krautwurst, C. Harteneck, M. Simons, H. Pavenstädt, D. Kerjaschki, C. Thiele, G. Walz, M. Chalfie, and T. Benzing. Podocin and MEC-2 bind cholesterol to regulate the activity of associated ion channels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(46):17079–17086, Nov. 2006. ISSN 0027-8424. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607465103. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1859892/.
- D.-P. Häder and R. Hemmersbach. Gravitaxis in euglena. In S. D. Schwartzbach and S. Shigeoka, editors, *Euglena: Biochemistry, Cell and Molecular Biology*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, pages 237–266. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2017. ISBN 978-3-319-54910-1. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-54910-1_12. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-54910-1_12.
- A. J. Iliff and X. Z. S. Xu. C. elegans: a sensible model for sensory biology. *Journal of Neurogenetics*, 34(3-4):347–350, 12 2020. ISSN 1563-5260. doi: 10.1080/01677063. 2020.1823386. PMID: 33191820 PMCID: PMC7856205.
- A. J. Iliff, C. Wang, E. A. Ronan, A. E. Hake, Y. Guo, X. Li, X. Zhang, M. Zheng, J. Liu, K. Grosh, R. K. Duncan, and X. Z. S. Xu. The nematode c. elegans senses
airborne sound. *Neuron*, 109(22):3633–3646.e7, 11 2021. ISSN 0896-6273. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2021.08.035. publisher: Elsevier PMID: 34555314.

- S. Jabba, R. Goyal, J. O. Sosa-Pagán, H. Moldenhauer, J. Wu, B. Kalmeta, M. Bandell, R. Latorre, A. Patapoutian, and J. Grandl. Directionality of temperature activation in mouse TRPA1 ion channel can be inverted by single-point mutations in ankyrin repeat six. *Neuron*, 82(5):1017–1031, June 2014. ISSN 1097-4199. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 04.016.
- G. Jékely, P. Godfrey-Smith, and F. Keijzer. Reafference and the origin of the self in early nervous system evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 376(1821):20190764, Mar. 2021. ISSN 1471-2970. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0764.
- S. S. Kalichamy, T. Y. Lee, K.-h. Yoon, and J. I. Lee. Hypergravity hinders axonal development of motor neurons in caenorhabditis elegans. *PeerJ*, 4:e2666, 11 2016. ISSN 2167-8359. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2666.
- T. Kamakura, Y. Ishida, Y. Nakamura, T. Yamada, T. Kitahara, Y. Takimoto, A. Horii, A. Uno, T. Imai, S. Okazaki, H. Inohara, and S. Shimada. Functional expression of trpv1 and trpa1 in rat vestibular ganglia. *Neuroscience Letters*, 552:92–97, 9 2013. ISSN 0304-3940. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.07.019.
- X. Karp. Working with dauer larvae. WormBook, pages 1–19, 8 2018. ISSN 15518507. doi: 10.1895/wormbook.1.180.1.
- S. Katta, M. Krieg, and M. B. Goodman. Feeling Force: Physical and Physiological Principles Enabling Sensory Mechanotransduction. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 31(1):347–371, 2015. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100913-013426. URL https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100913-013426. __eprint: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100913-013426.
- N. Kim, C. M. Dempsey, C.-J. Kuan, J. V. Zoval, E. O'Rourke, G. Ruvkun, M. J. Madou, and J. Y. Sze. Gravity force transduced by the mec-4/mec-10 deg/enac channel modulates daf-16/foxo activity in caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics*, 177(2):835–845, 10 2007. ISSN 0016-6731. doi: 10.1534/genetics.107.076901. PMID: 17720915 PMCID: PMC2034647.
- K. S. Kindt, V. Viswanath, L. Macpherson, K. Quast, H. Hu, A. Patapoutian, and W. R. Schafer. Caenorhabditis elegans trpa-1 functions in mechanosensation. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(5):568–577, 5 2007. ISSN 1097-6256. doi: 10.1038/nn1886. PMID: 17450139.
- E. Kodama-Namba, L. A. Fenk, A. J. Bretscher, E. Gross, K. E. Busch, and M. de Bono. Cross-modulation of homeostatic responses to temperature, oxygen and carbon dioxide

in c. elegans. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(12), 12 2013. ISSN 1553-7390. doi: 10.1371/journal. pgen.1004011. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3868554/. PMID: 24385919 PMCID: PMC3868554.

- Y. S. Kolesnikov, S. V. Kretynin, I. D. Volotovsky, E. L. Kordyum, E. Ruelland, and V. S. Kravets. Molecular mechanisms of gravity perception and signal transduction in plants. *Protoplasma*, 253(4):987–1004, July 2016. ISSN 1615-6102. doi: 10.1007/ s00709-015-0859-5. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-015-0859-5.
- M. Krieg, A. R. Dunn, and M. B. Goodman. Mechanical systems biology of C. elegans touch sensation. *BioEssays*, 37(3):335-344, 2015. ISSN 1521-1878. doi: 10.1002/ bies.201400154. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/bies. 201400154.
- M. C. Krzyzanowski, S. Woldemariam, J. F. Wood, A. H. Chaubey, C. Brueggemann, A. Bowitch, M. Bethke, N. D. L'Etoile, and D. M. Ferkey. Aversive Behavior in the Nematode C. elegans Is Modulated by cGMP and a Neuronal Gap Junction Network. *PLoS Genetics*, 12(7), July 2016. ISSN 1553-7390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006153. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4961389/.
- F. Lacquaniti, G. Bosco, S. Gravano, I. Indovina, B. La Scaleia, V. Maffei, and M. Zago. Multisensory integration and internal models for sensing gravity effects in primates. *BioMed Research International*, 2014:1–10, 2014. ISSN 2314-6133, 2314-6141. doi: 10.1155/2014/615854.
- L. Landler, S. Nimpf, T. Hochstoeger, G. C. Nordmann, A. Papadaki-Anastasopoulou, and D. A. Keays. Comment on "magnetosensitive neurons...". *eLife*, 7, 2018. doi: 10.7554/elife.30187.001. URL https://elifesciences.org/articles/30187# abstract. [Online; accessed 2018-07-27].
- E. E. Large, R. Padmanabhan, K. L. Watkins, R. F. Campbell, W. Xu, and P. T. McGrath. Modeling of a negative feedback mechanism explains antagonistic pleiotropy in reproduction in domesticated caenorhabditis elegans strains. *PLoS Genetics*, 13 (5):e1006769, 5 2017. ISSN 1553-7390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006769. PMID: 28493873 PMCID: PMC5444864.
- J. Larsch, S. W. Flavell, Q. Liu, A. Gordus, D. R. Albrecht, and C. I. Bargmann. A circuit for gradient climbing in C. elegans chemotaxis. *Cell reports*, 12(11):1748–1760, Sept. 2015. ISSN 2211-1247. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.032. URL https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5045890/.
- H. Lee, M.-k. Choi, D. Lee, H.-s. Kim, H. Hwang, H. Kim, S. Park, Y.-k. Paik, and J. Lee. Nictation, a dispersal behavior of the nematode caenorhabditis elegans, is regulated by il2 neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(1):107–112, 1 2012. ISSN 1097-6256, 1546-1726. doi: 10.1038/nn.2975.

- N. Y. Leung. Functions of Opsins in Taste. Ph.D., University of California, Santa Barbara, United States - California, 2019. URL https://www.proquest.com/docview/ 2306302684/abstract/7B5D9277478E4B16PQ/20. ISBN: 9781088310199.
- M. Lipovsek and R. J. Wingate. Conserved and divergent development of brainstem vestibular and auditory nuclei. *eLife*, 7:e40232, 12 2018. ISSN 2050-084X. doi: 10. 7554/eLife.40232. publisher: eLife Sciences Publications, Ltd.
- D. Lockhead, E. M. Schwarz, R. O'Hagan, S. Bellotti, M. Krieg, M. M. Barr, A. R. Dunn, P. W. Sternberg, and M. B. Goodman. The tubulin repertoire of caenorhabditis elegans sensory neurons and its context-dependent role in process outgrowth. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 27(23):3717–3728, 11 2016. ISSN 1059-1524. doi: 10.1091/mbc. E16-06-0473. PMID: 27654945 PMCID: PMC5170555.
- K. Mackowetzky, K. H. Yoon, E. J. Mackowetzky, and A. J. Waskiewicz. Development and evolution of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear. *Journal of Anatomy*, 239(4):801–828, 10 2021. ISSN 1469-7580. doi: 10.1111/joa.13459. PMID: 34047378 PMCID: PMC8450482.
- Y. Mansour, A. Burchell, and R. J. Kulesza. Central Auditory and Vestibular Dysfunction Are Key Features of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 15, 2021. ISSN 1662-5145. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/ fnint.2021.743561.
- D. Ó. Maoiléidigh and A. J. Ricci. A bundle of mechanisms: Inner-ear hair-cell mechanotransduction. *Trends in neurosciences*, 42(3):221-236, Mar. 2019. ISSN 0166-2236. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.12.006. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC6402798/.
- E. J. Marco, L. B. N. Hinkley, S. S. Hill, and S. S. Nagarajan. Sensory Processing in Autism: A Review of Neurophysiologic Findings. *Pediatric Research*, 69(8):48– 54, May 2011. ISSN 1530-0447. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3182130c54. URL http: //www.nature.com/articles/pr9201193. Number: 8 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- O. Margie, C. Palmer, and I. Chin-Sang. C. elegans chemotaxis assay. Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE, 74:50069, 4 2013. ISSN 1940-087X. doi: 10.3791/50069. PMID: 23644543 PMCID: PMC3667641.
- C. Mei, H. Dong, E. Nisenbaum, T. Thielhelm, A. Nourbakhsh, D. Yan, M. Smeal, Y. Lundberg, M. E. Hoffer, S. Angeli, F. Telischi, G. Nie, S. H. Blanton, and X. Liu. Genetics and the individualized therapy of vestibular disorders. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12, 2021. ISSN 1664-2295. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/ fneur.2021.633207. [Online; accessed 2022-03-14].

- E. Meijering, O. Dzyubachyk, and I. Smal. Chapter nine methods for cell and particle tracking. In P. M. conn, editor, *Imaging and Spectroscopic Analysis of Living Cells*, volume 504 of *Methods in Enzymology*, pages 183–200. Academic Press, 2012. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391857-4.00009-4. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780123918574000094.
- J. E. Mellem, P. J. Brockie, Y. Zheng, D. M. Madsen, and A. V. Maricq. Decoding of Polymodal Sensory Stimuli by Postsynaptic Glutamate Receptors in C. elegans. *Neuron*, 36(5):933-944, Dec. 2002. ISSN 0896-6273. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02) 01088-7. URL https://www.cell.com/neuron/abstract/S0896-6273(02)01088-7. Publisher: Elsevier.
- A. Metaxakis, D. Petratou, and N. Tavernarakis. Multimodal sensory processing in caenorhabditis elegans. *Open Biology*, 8(6):180049, 2018. doi: 10.1098/rsob.180049. publisher: Royal Society.
- C. Montell. The venerable inveterate invertebrate trp channels. *Cell Calcium*, 33(5-6):409–417, 6 2003. ISSN 0143-4160. doi: 10.1016/s0143-4160(03)00053-8. PMID: 12765686.
- C. Montell. The TRP superfamily of cation channels. Science's STKE: signal transduction knowledge environment, 2005(272):re3, Feb. 2005. ISSN 1525-8882. doi: 10.1126/stke.2722005re3.
- C. Montell and G. M. Rubin. Molecular characterization of the drosophila trp locus: A putative integral membrane protein required for phototransduction. *Neuron*, 2(4): 1313-1323, Apr. 1989. ISSN 0896-6273. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(89)90069-X. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/089662738990069X.
- A. L. Nekimken, E. A. Mazzochette, M. B. Goodman, and B. L. Pruitt. Forces applied during classical touch assays for Caenorhabditis elegans. *PloS One*, 12(5):e0178080, 2017. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178080.
- B. Neumann and M. A. Hilliard. Loss of mec-17 leads to microtubule instability and axonal degeneration. *Cell Reports*, 6(1):93–103, 1 2014. ISSN 2211-1247. doi: 10. 1016/j.celrep.2013.12.004. PMID: 24373971 PMCID: PMC3939029.
- K. Ning and T. Wang. Multimodal Interventions Are More Effective in Improving Core Symptoms in Children With ADHD. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 12, 2021. ISSN 1664-0640. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.759315.
- C. A. Nist-Lund, B. Pan, A. Patterson, Y. Asai, T. Chen, W. Zhou, H. Zhu, S. Romero, J. Resnik, D. B. Polley, G. S. Géléoc, and J. R. Holt. Improved tmc1 gene therapy restores hearing and balance in mice with genetic inner ear disorders. *Nature Communications*, 10(1):236, 1 2019. ISSN 2041-1723. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-08264-w. PMID: 30670701 PMCID: PMC6342993.

- M. Ntefidou, P. Richter, C. Streb, M. Lebert, and D.-P. Hader. High light exposure leads to a sign change in gravitaxis of the flagellate euglena gracilis. *Journal of Gravitational Physiology: A Journal of the International Society for Gravitational Physiology*, 9(1): P277–278, 7 2002. ISSN 1077-9248. PMID: 15002579.
- E. Okumura, R. Tanaka, and T. Yoshiga. Negative gravitactic behavior of caenorhabditis japonica dauer larvae. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 216(8):1470–1474, 4 2013. ISSN 0022-0949, 1477-9145. doi: 10.1242/jeb.075739.
- M. C. Ow and S. E. Hall. A method for obtaining large populations of synchronized caenorhabditis elegans dauer larvae. In *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, volume 1327, pages 209–219. Springer, 2015. PMID: 26423977.
- R. J. Peterka. Sensory integration for human balance control. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, 159:27–42, 2018. ISSN 0072-9752. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-63916-5.00002-1. PMID: 30482320.
- L. Qiao, S. Luo, Y. Liu, X. Li, G. Wang, and Z. Huang. Reproductive and locomotory capacities of caenorhabditis elegans were not affected by simulated variable gravities and spaceflight during the shenzhou-8 mission. *Astrobiology*, 13(7):617–625, 7 2013. ISSN 1531-1074. doi: 10.1089/ast.2012.0962. PMID: 23837604 PMCID: PMC3713449.
- A. Ramos de Miguel, A. Zarowski, M. Sluydts, A. Ramos Macias, and F. L. Wuyts. The Superiority of the Otolith System. *Audiology & Neuro-Otology*, 25(1-2):35–41, 2020. ISSN 1421-9700. doi: 10.1159/000504595.
- D. Ramot, B. L. MacInnis, H.-C. Lee, and M. B. Goodman. Thermotaxis is a robust mechanism for thermoregulation in c. elegans nematodes. *The Journal of neuroscience*: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 28(47):12546-12557, 11 2008. ISSN 0270-6474. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2857-08.2008. PMID: 19020047 PMCID: PMC3899394.
- C. E. Richardson, C. Yee, and K. Shen. A hormone receptor pathway cell-autonomously delays neuron morphological aging by suppressing endocytosis. *PLoS Biology*, 17(10): e3000452, Oct. 2019. ISSN 1544-9173. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000452. URL https: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6797217/.
- D. L. Riddle, T. Blumenthal, B. J. Meyer, and J. R. Priess. *C. elegans Responds to a Variety of Chemicals*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1997. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19972/. [Online; accessed 2018-11-27].
- P. Roman-Naranjo, A. Gallego-Martinez, and J. A. Lopez Escamez. Genetics of vestibular syndromes. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 31(1):105–110, 2 2018. ISSN 1350-7540. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000519.

- M. D. Ross, K. G. Pote, A. Miller, D. C. Phillips, and R. J. P. Williams. Some properties of otoconia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences*, 304(1121):445–452, 2 1984. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1984.0038. publisher: Royal Society.
- J. Russell, A. G. Vidal-Gadea, A. Makay, C. Lanam, and J. T. Pierce-Shimomura. Humidity sensation requires both mechanosensory and thermosensory pathways in caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(22):8269–8274, 6 2014. ISSN 0027-8424, 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1322512111.
- S. Saito, N. Fukuta, R. Shingai, and M. Tominaga. Evolution of Vertebrate Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 3 Channels: Opposite Temperature Sensitivity between Mammals and Western Clawed Frogs. *PLOS Genetics*, 7(4):e1002041, Apr. 2011. ISSN 1553-7404. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002041. URL https://journals.plos.org/ plosgenetics/article?id=10.1371/journal.pgen.1002041. Publisher: Public Library of Science.
- J. N. Saldanha, S. Pandey, and J. A. Powell-Coffman. The effects of short-term hypergravity on caenorhabditis elegans. *Life Sciences in Space Research*, 10:38–46, 8 2016. ISSN 2214-5524. doi: 10.1016/j.lssr.2016.06.003.
- T. G. T. Santos, A. R. Venosa, and A. L. L. Sampaio. Association between Hearing Loss and Vestibular Disorders: A Review of the Interference of Hearing in the Balance. *International Journal of Otolaryngology and Head & amp; Neck Surgery*, 04(03):173– 179, 2015. ISSN 2168-5452, 2168-5460. doi: 10.4236/ijohns.2015.43030. URL http: //www.scirp.org/journal/doi.aspx?DOI=10.4236/ijohns.2015.43030.
- W. R. Schafer. Proprioception: A Channel for Body Sense in the Worm. *Current Biology*, 16(13):R509-R511, July 2006. ISSN 0960-9822. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.06.012. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960982206016903.
- W. R. Schafer. Mechanosensory molecules and circuits in C. elegans. *Pflugers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology*, 467(1):39–48, Jan. 2015. ISSN 1432-2013. doi: 10. 1007/s00424-014-1574-3.
- D. I. Scheffer, J. Shen, D. P. Corey, and Z.-Y. Chen. Gene expression by mouse inner ear hair cells during development. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(16):6366–6380, 4 2015. ISSN 0270-6474. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5126-14.2015. PMID: 25904789 PMCID: PMC4405555.
- F. Selch, A. Higashibata, M. Imamizo-Sato, A. Higashitani, N. Ishioka, N. J. Szewczyk, and C. A. Conley. Genomic response of the nematode caenorhabditis elegans to spaceflight. Advances in space research : the official journal of the Committee on Space Research (COSPAR), 41(5):807–815, 2008. ISSN 0273-1177. doi: 10.1016/j.asr.2007. 11.015. PMID: 18392117 PMCID: PMC2288577.

- P. Sengupta. The belly rules the nose: feeding state-dependent modulation of peripheral chemosensory responses. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23(1):68-75, Feb. 2013. ISSN 0959-4388. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2012.08.001. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959438812001213.
- S. Shi, S. M. Mutchler, B. M. Blobner, O. B. Kashlan, and T. R. Kleyman. Pore-lining residues of MEC-4 and MEC-10 channel subunits tune the Caenorhabditis elegans degenerin channel's response to shear stress. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293 (27):10757-10766, July 2018. ISSN 0021-9258, 1083-351X. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118. 002499. URL https://www.jbc.org/article/S0021-9258(20)33827-8/abstract. Publisher: Elsevier.
- T. Shida, J. G. Cueva, Z. Xu, M. B. Goodman, and M. V. Nachury. The major α-tubulin k40 acetyltransferase αtat1 promotes rapid ciliogenesis and efficient mechanosensation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107 (50):21517–21522, 12 2010. ISSN 0027-8424. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1013728107. PMID: 21068373 PMCID: PMC3003046.
- C. J. Smith, J. D. Watson, W. C. Spencer, T. O'Brien, B. Cha, A. Albeg, M. Treinin, and D. M. Miller. Time-lapse imaging and cell-specific expression profiling reveal dynamic branching and molecular determinants of a multi-dendritic nociceptor in C. elegans. *Developmental Biology*, 345(1):18–33, Sept. 2010. ISSN 0012-1606. doi: 10.1016/ j.ydbio.2010.05.502. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0012160610008055.
- C. J. Smith, T. O'Brien, M. Chatzigeorgiou, W. C. Spencer, E. Feingold-Link, S. J. Husson, S. Hori, S. Mitani, A. Gottschalk, W. R. Schafer, and D. M. Miller. Sensory Neuron Fates Are Distinguished by a Transcriptional Switch that Regulates Dendrite Branch Stabilization. *Neuron*, 79(2):266–280, July 2013. ISSN 08966273. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2013.05.009. URL http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0896627313004029.
- J. Srinivasan, S. H. v. Reuss, N. Bose, A. Zaslaver, P. Mahanti, M. C. Ho, O. G. O'Doherty, A. S. Edison, P. W. Sternberg, and F. C. Schroeder. A Modular Library of Small Molecule Signals Regulates Social Behaviors in Caenorhabditis elegans. *PLOS Biology*, 10(1):e1001237, Jan. 2012. ISSN 1545-7885. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 1001237. URL https://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.1001237.
- T. Stiernagle. Maintenance of c. elegans. WormBook, 2006. ISSN 15518507. doi: 10.1895/wormbook.1.101.1. URL http://www.wormbook.org/chapters/www_ strainmaintain/strainmaintain.html. [Online; accessed 2022-01-05].

- J. D. Stockand and B. A. Eaton. Stimulus discrimination by the polymodal sensory neuron. *Communicative & Integrative Biology*, 6(2):e23469, 3 2013. ISSN 1942-0889. doi: 10.4161/cib.23469. PMID: 23749412 PMCID: PMC3609850.
- S.-H. Su, N. M. Gibbs, A. L. Jancewicz, and P. H. Masson. Molecular Mechanisms of Root Gravitropism. *Current Biology*, 27(17):R964-R972, Sept. 2017. ISSN 0960-9822. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.07.015. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0960982217308734.
- Y. Sun, L. Liu, Y. Ben-Shahar, J. S. Jacobs, D. F. Eberl, and M. J. Welsh. Trpa channels distinguish gravity sensing from hearing in johnston's organ. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(32):13606–13611, 8 2009. ISSN 0027-8424, 1091-6490. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906377106. PMID: 19666538.
- L. Sundararajan, J. Stern, and D. M. Miller. Mechanisms that regulate morphogenesis of a highly branched neuron in C. elegans. *Developmental Biology*, 451 (1):53-67, July 2019. ISSN 0012-1606. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2019.04.002. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0012160618303361.
- L. Tao, D. Porto, Z. Li, S. Fechner, S. A. Lee, M. B. Goodman, X. S. Xu, H. Lu, and K. Shen. Parallel Processing of Two Mechanosensory Modalities by a Single Neuron in C. elegans. *Developmental Cell*, page S1534580719308524, Nov. 2019. ISSN 15345807. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2019.10.008. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S1534580719308524.
- J. S. Taube. The Head Direction Signal: Origins and Sensory-Motor Integration. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30(1):181-207, July 2007. ISSN 0147-006X, 1545-4126. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112854. URL https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112854.
- N. Tavernarakis and M. Driscoll. Mechanotransduction in caenorhabditis elegans: The role of deg/enac ion channels. *Cell Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 35(1):1–18, 2001. ISSN 1085-9195. doi: 10.1385/CBB:35:1:01.
- N. Tavernarakis and M. Driscoll. Molecular modeling of mechanotransduction in the nematode caenorhabditis elegans. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 59(1):659–689, 1997. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.659. PMID: 9074782.
- S. R. Taylor, G. Santpere, A. Weinreb, A. Barrett, M. B. Reilly, C. Xu, E. Varol, P. Oikonomou, L. Glenwinkel, R. McWhirter, A. Poff, M. Basavaraju, I. Rafi, E. Yemini, S. J. Cook, A. Abrams, B. Vidal, C. Cros, S. Tavazoie, N. Sestan, M. Hammarlund, O. Hobert, and D. M. Miller. Molecular topography of an entire nervous system. *Cell*, 184(16):4329–4347.e23, Aug. 2021. ISSN 0092-8674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.06.023. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0092867421007583.

- I. Topalidou, C. Keller, N. Kalebic, K. C. Nguyen, H. Somhegyi, K. A. Politi, P. Heppenstall, D. H. Hall, and M. Chalfie. Enzymatic and non-enzymatic activities of the tubulin acetyltransferase mec-17 are required for microtubule organization and mechanosensation in c. elegans. *Current Biology*, 22(12):1057–1065, 6 2012. ISSN 0960-9822. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.03.066. PMID: 22658602 PMCID: PMC3382010.
- E. L. Tsalik, T. Niacaris, A. S. Wenick, K. Pau, L. Avery, and O. Hobert. LIM homeobox gene-dependent expression of biogenic amine receptors in restricted regions of the C. elegans nervous system. *Developmental Biology*, 263(1):81–102, Nov. 2003. ISSN 0012-1606. doi: 10.1016/S0012-1606(03)00447-0. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0012160603004470.
- J. C. Tuthill and E. Azim. Proprioception. *Current Biology*, 28(5):R194-R203, Mar. 2018. ISSN 0960-9822. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.064. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0960982218300976.
- P. J. Uhlhaas and W. Singer. Abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in schizophrenia. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 11(2):100-113, Feb. 2010. ISSN 1471-003X, 1471-0048. doi: 10.1038/nrn2774. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/nrn2774.
- K. Venkatachalam, J. Luo, and C. Montell. Evolutionarily conserved, multitasking trp channels: lessons from worms and flies. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, 223: 937–962, 2014. ISSN 0171-2004. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-05161-1_9. PMID: 24961975 PMCID: PMC4340696.
- A. Vidal-Gadea, K. Ward, C. Beron, N. Ghorashian, S. Gokce, J. Russell, N. Truong, A. Parikh, O. Gadea, A. Ben-Yakar, and J. Pierce-Shimomura. Magnetosensitive neurons mediate geomagnetic orientation in caenorhabditis elegans. *eLife*, 4, 2015. ISSN 2050-084X. doi: 10.7554/eLife.07493. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC4525075/. PMID: 26083711 PMCID: PMC4525075.
- A. Vidal-Gadea, C. Bainbridge, B. Clites, B. E. Palacios, L. Bakhtiari, V. Gordon, and J. Pierce-Shimomura. Response to comment on "Magnetosensitive neurons mediate geomagnetic orientation in Caenorhabditis elegans". *eLife*, 7(e31414):1-12, Mar. 2018. doi: 10.7554/elife.31414.001. URL https://elifesciences.org/articles/31414# abstract.
- L. Wang and J. C. Way. Activation of the mec-3 promoter in two classes of stereotyped lineages in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Mechanisms of Development*, 56(1):165– 181, May 1996. ISSN 0925-4773. doi: 10.1016/0925-4773(96)00522-9. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0925477396005229.
- Y. Wang, A. N. Ezemaduka, Y. Tang, and Z. Chang. Understanding the mechanism of the dormant dauer formation of c. elegans: From genetics to biochemistry. *IUBMB Life*, 61(6):607–612, 2009. ISSN 1521-6551. doi: 10.1002/iub.211.

- A. Ward, J. Liu, Z. Feng, and X. Z. S. Xu. Light-sensitive neurons and channels mediate phototaxis in c. elegans. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(8):916–922, 8 2008. ISSN 1546-1726. doi: 10.1038/nn.2155. PMID: 18604203 PMCID: PMC2652401.
- S. Ward. Chemotaxis by the nematode caenorhabditis elegans: Identification of attractants and analysis of the response by use of mutants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 70(3):817–821, 3 1973. ISSN 0027-8424. PMID: 4351805 PMCID: PMC433366.
- F. P. Weghorst and K. S. Cramer. The evolution of hearing and balance. *eLife*, 8:e44567, 2 2019. ISSN 2050-084X. doi: 10.7554/eLife.44567.
- J. G. White, E. Southgate, J. N. Thomson, and S. Brenner. The structure of the nervous system of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 314(1165):1–340, Nov. 1986. ISSN 0962-8436. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1986.0056.
- S. Wicks and C. Rankin. Integration of mechanosensory stimuli in caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(3):2434–2444, 3 1995. ISSN 0270-6474. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.15-03-02434.1995. PMID: 7891178 PMCID: PMC6578104.
- D. Xu, Y. Gao, L. Huang, and Y. Sun. Changes in mirna expression profile of space-flown caenorhabditis elegans during shenzhou-8 mission. *Life Sciences in Space Research*, 1: 44–52, 4 2014. ISSN 2214-5524. doi: 10.1016/j.lssr.2013.12.001.
- E. Yemini, T. Jucikas, L. J. Grundy, A. E. X. Brown, and W. R. Schafer. A database of caenorhabditis elegans behavioral phenotypes. *Nature Methods*, 10(9):877–879, 9 2013. ISSN 1548-7105. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2560. number: 9 publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- N. Zhang, L. Guo, and J. H. Simpson. Spatial Comparisons of Mechanosensory Information Govern the Grooming Sequence in Drosophila. *Current biology: CB*, 30(6): 988–1001.e4, Mar. 2020. ISSN 1879-0445. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2020.01.045.
- Y. Zhang and M. Chalfie. Mtd-1, a touch-cell-specific membrane protein with a subtle effect on touch sensitivity. *Mechanisms of Development*, 119(1):3–7, 11 2002. ISSN 0925-4773. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4773(02)00293-9.
- L. Zhao, Q. Rui, and D. Wang. Molecular basis for oxidative stress induced by simulated microgravity in nematode caenorhabditis elegans. *Science of The Total Environment*, 607-608:1381–1390, 12 2017. ISSN 0048-9697. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.088.